

Justine Lebeau, T. Kelly Rainbolt and R. Luke Wiseman¹

Department of Molecular Medicine, The Scripps Research Institute, La Jolla, CA, United States ¹Corresponding author: Email: wiseman@scripps.edu

Contents

1.	Introduction				
	1.1	Organization and Activity of the Mitochondrial Proteolytic Network			
		1.1.1	Processing Peptidases Facilitate Establishment of the	5	
			Mitochondrial Proteome		
		1.1.2	Mitochondrial Quality Control Proteases Regulate the Integrity and Function of the Mitochondrial Proteome	6	
		1.1.3	Oligopeptidases Degrade Polypeptides Within Mitochondria	10	
	1.2	Mitochondrial Proteases Are Key Regulators of Organellar			
		Qual	ity Control		
		1.2.1	Mitochondrial Morphology Is Regulated by the Activity of Mitochondrial	12	
			Proteases		
		1.2.2	Proteolytic Control of Mitophagy	14	
	1.3 Mitochondrial Proteases Link Mitochondrial Proteostasis to Apoptotic				
	Signaling				
	1.4	1.4 Stress-Responsive Regulation of the Mitochondrial Proteolytic Netwo		17	
		1.4.1	Mitochondrial Unfolded Protein Response-Dependent Regulation of	17	
			Mitochondrial Proteostasis		
		1.4.2	The Integrated Stress Response Coordinates Mitochondrial Proteostasis in	22	
			Response to Diverse Insults		
		1.4.3	LON Is Also Transcriptionally Regulated by Other Stress-Responsive Signaling	26	
			Pathways		
		1.4.4	Posttranslational Regulation of Mitochondrial Proteolytic Activity	28	
	1.5	Altered Mitochondrial Protease Activity in Aging and Disease			
		1.5.1	Mutations in Mitochondrial Proteases Are Genetically Linked to Diverse	31	
			Neurodegenerative Disorders		
		1.5.2	Aging Dependent Alterations in Mitochondrial Proteolytic Capacity	34	
		1.5.3	Indirect Consequences of Altered Mitochondrial Proteolytic Activity on	35	
			Mitochondrial Proteostasis and Function		

ARTICLE IN PRESS

2. Concluding Comments and Future Perspectives	36
Acknowledgments	36
References	36

Abstract

Proteases are localized throughout mitochondria and function as critical regulators of all aspects of mitochondrial biology. As such, the activities of these proteases are sensitively regulated through transcriptional and post-translational mechanisms to adapt mitochondrial function to specific cellular demands. Here, we discuss the stress-responsive mechanisms responsible for regulating mitochondrial protease activity and the implications of this regulation on mitochondrial function. Furthermore, we describe how imbalances in the activity or regulation of mitochondrial proteases induced by genetic, environmental, or aging-related factors influence mitochondria in the context of disease. Understanding the molecular mechanisms by which cells regulate mitochondrial function through alterations in protease activity provide insights into the contributions of these proteases in pathologic mitochondrial dysfunction and reveals new therapeutic opportunities to ameliorate this dysfunction in the context of diverse classes of human disease.

1. INTRODUCTION

Mitochondria are responsible for essential metabolic and signaling activities within eukaryotic cells (Fig. 1). These include energy production, phospholipid metabolism, and the regulation of apoptotic signaling pathways, all of which require the maintenance of the mitochondrial proteome, also referred to as mitochondrial proteostasis, for their efficient activity. Imbalances in mitochondrial proteostasis induced by genetic, environmental, or aging-related insults are implicated in the pathologic mitochondrial dysfunction associated with diverse diseases including cancer, cardiovascular disease, and many neurodegenerative diseases. A key factor in preventing this pathologic dysfunction is the regulation of mitochondrial proteostasis through the activity of proteases localized throughout mitochondria. These proteases act through a variety of mechanisms to regulate mitochondrial function in response to a given insult and prevent stressinduced dysregulation of mitochondrial proteostasis. The central importance of mitochondrial proteases provides an opportunity for cells to sensitively adapt mitochondrial function to specific cellular demands through the stress-responsive regulation of proteolytic activity. Here, we discuss the mechanisms by which cells regulate mitochondrial proteolytic activity in



Figure 1 Illustration showing select biologic activities localized to mitochondria. The four compartments of mitochondria are shown in bold text.

response to stress. Furthermore, we describe the functional importance of stress-responsive protease regulation and how imbalances in this regulation can promote pathologic mitochondrial dysfunction implicated in diverse diseases.

1.1 Organization and Activity of the Mitochondrial Proteolytic Network

Mitochondria are defined by a double membrane architecture resulting in four intramitochondrial compartments: the outer membrane (OM), the intermembrane space (IMS), the inner membrane (IM), and the mitochondrial matrix (Fig. 1). Except for those localized to the OM, mitochondrial proteins are not accessible to the ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS) for degradation. Instead, these mitochondrial proteins are regulated by proteases localized to the IMS, IM, and mitochondrial matrix that promote the maintenance of mitochondrial proteostasis and regulate specific aspects of mitochondrial function (Table 1). Mitochondrial proteases can be generally classified into three categories based on their predominant role in regulating mitochondrial proteostasis and function (Baker et al., 2011; Quiros et al., 2015). Mitochondrial proteosing peptidases function in the biogenesis and maturation of the mitochondrial proteome. Quality control proteases degrade damaged mitochondrial proteins and regulate specific aspects of mitochondrial biology. Finally, oligopeptidases degrade peptides derived

Protease/Peptidase	Catalytic Activity	Localization	Category	Yeast Homolog
USP15	Cys	ОМ	Deubiquitinylase	Ubp12
USP30	Cys	OM	Deubiquitinylase	Ubp16
MEP	Metallo	IMS	Oligopeptidase	Prd1
MIP	Metallo	Matrix	Processing peptidase	Oct1
PMPCB	Metallo	Matrix	Processing peptidase	Mas1
PREP (PITRM1)	Metallo	Matrix	Oligopeptidase	Mop112
OSGEPL1	Metallo	Matrix	Unknown	Qri7
METAP1D (MAP1D)	Metallo	Matrix	Processing peptidase	Map1
XPNPEP3	Metallo	Matrix	Processing peptidase	Icp55
YME1L	Metallo	IM	Quality Control Protease	Yme1
PARAPLEGIN (SPG7)	Metallo	IM	Quality Control Protease	Yta10
AFG3L2	Metallo	IM	Quality Control Protease	Yta12
OMA1	Metallo	IM	Quality Control Protease	Oma1
ATP23	Metallo	IMS	Quality Control and processing	Atp23
HTRA2	Ser	IMS	Quality Control Protease	
LACTB	Ser	IMS	Unknown	
CLPP	Ser	Matrix	Quality Control Protease	
LONP	Ser	Matrix	Quality Control Protease	Pim1/Lon
IMMP2L	Ser	IM	Processing peptidase	Imp2
IMMP1L	Ser	IM	Processing peptidase	Imp1
PARL	Ser	IM	Quality Control Protease	Pcp1

Table 1	List of Mitochondrial	Proteases and Peptidases	Discussed in This Review
i aoic i	Else of millochomania	rioteuses and reptiduses	Discussed in this never

from mitochondrial processing peptidases (MPPs) and quality control proteases into amino acids. Proteases in these categories are diverse in their catalytic activity, ATP dependence, and method of regulation, which reflect their unique functions in coordinating mitochondrial biology (Baker et al., 2011; Quiros et al., 2015). Below we discuss these three classes of mitochondrial proteases and their generalized roles in regulating mitochondrial proteostasis and function.

1.1.1 Processing Peptidases Facilitate Establishment of the Mitochondrial Proteome

The majority of mitochondrial-localized proteins (>99%) are encoded by the nuclear genome and translated on cytosolic ribosomes. These mitochondrial proteins are directed to the translocase of the outer membrane (TOM) complex by targeting sequences localized at the N-terminus or internally within the polypeptide sequence (Chacinska et al., 2009; Harbauer et al., 2014; Schmidt et al., 2010). TOM facilitates translocation of these polypeptides across the OM to the IMS where they are further targeted to additional translocase and localization machinery that directs these proteins to specific mitochondrial subcompartments (e.g., the translocase of the inner membrane 23 [TIM23] translocates proteins into the IM and across the IM to the mitochondrial matrix) (Chacinska et al., 2009; Harbauer et al., 2014; Schmidt et al., 2010). Once localized, these polypeptides are often proteolytically processed by MPPs to release the mature polypeptide.

The matrix-localized metalloprotease MPP is a heterodimeric complex comprising the catalytic MPP β subunit (*PMPCB*) and the noncatalytic MPP α subunit (*PMPCA*) (Kleiber et al., 1990; Ou et al., 1989; Yang et al., 1988). MPP is responsible for removing the N-terminal-targeting sequences from mitochondrial proteins targeted to the mitochondrial matrix (Gakh et al., 2002). The removal of this N-terminal-targeting sequence releases the mature polypeptide to engage matrix chaperones and folding enzymes that facilitate folding to its native conformation.

MPP-dependent processing of N-terminal—targeting sequences can also be the first step in the maturation of mitochondrial proteins that require multiple proteolytic steps for maturation and/or localization. Mitochondrial intermediate peptidase removes an N-terminal octapeptide sequence from selected polypeptides that is revealed following MPP-dependent processing of the mitochondrial-targeting sequence (Vogtle et al., 2011). The removal of this octapeptide is important as it replaces a destabilizing N-terminal amino acid with a stabilizing N-terminal amino acid. This substitution can prevent degradation of the immature polypeptide through the N-end rule degradation mechanism of the mitochondrial matrix (Vogtle et al., 2011). Similarly, the mitochondrial x-prolyl aminopeptidase XPNPEP3 can cleave a single destabilizing N-terminal amino acid from MPP-processed peptides to reveal a stable N-terminal amino acid (Vogtle et al., 2009). The METAP1D aminopeptidase (Methionyl Aminopeptidase Type 1D, also referred to as MAP1D) also regulates N-terminal amino acids of mitochondrial-encoded proteins such as CoxIII by removing the N-terminal methionine as part of an N-terminal methionine excision process (Hu et al., 2007; Serero et al., 2003; Walker et al., 2009). Alternatively, inner membrane protease subunit 1 and inner membrane protease subunit 2 remove hydrophobic sorting signals from MPP-processed proteins, releasing the mature polypeptide to the IMS (Nunnari et al., 1993). Thus, through the activities discussed above, MPPs have critical roles in regulating the maturation, stability, and localization of the mitochondrial proteome.

1.1.2 Mitochondrial Quality Control Proteases Regulate the Integrity and Function of the Mitochondrial Proteome

In contrast to mitochondrial processing peptidases, mitochondrial quality control proteases primarily function to remove damaged or misfolded proteins localized to intramitochondrial environments. Four AAA + ATPdependent proteases-the *i*-AAA protease, the *m*-AAA protease, LON, and ClpXP—are predominantly responsible for performing quality control functions within mitochondria (Fig. 2). These proteases all function through a similar biochemical mechanism that appears to be conserved from bacteria to mammals (Puchades et al., 2017; Sauer and Baker, 2011). Damaged and/or aberrantly folded proteins are directed to the AAA + domains of these proteases where they are unfolded through an ATP-dependent process (Puchades et al., 2017; Sauer and Baker, 2011). The unfolded proteins are then translocated to a protected proteolytic core for degradation. Within mitochondria, AAA+ proteases localize to specific intramitochondrial environments such as the IM or the mitochondrial matrix. The localization of these proteases to specific compartments is a primary determinant in dictating their substrate specificity and biologic function.

The *i*-AAA and *m*-AAA proteases are both mitochondrial IM proteases with active sites oriented toward different sides of the membrane. The *i*-AAA protease is a homooligomer comprising six subunits of the zinc metalloprotease YME1L. The active site of the *i*-AAA protease, or more



Figure 2 The organization and localization of mitochondrial quality control proteases within mitochondria.

simply YME1L, is oriented toward the IMS, making this the only ATPdependent protease accessing this mitochondrial subcompartment (Fig. 2). YME1L predominantly functions to degrade damaged, unassembled, or misfolded proteins localized to the IM or IMS. This includes many established substrates such as complex I subunits (Stiburek et al., 2012), the core TIM23 subunit Tim17A (Rainbolt et al., 2013), small Tim proteins (Baker et al., 2012b; Spiller et al., 2015), and the phosphatidic acid transporter PRELID1 (Potting et al., 2013). As such, YME1L influences many aspects of mitochondrial biology, including electron transport chain activity, mitochondrial protein import, and phospholipid metabolism. YME1L also functions to regulate mitochondrial morphology through the processing of the inner membrane GTPase optic atrophy protein 1 (OPA1) in a process that is discussed in more detail below (Griparic et al., 2007; Ishihara et al., 2006; Song et al., 2007). Through these (and other) activities, YME1L has a key role in dictating mitochondrial biology both during normal physiology and in response to pathologic insults.

In contrast to YME1L, the active site of the *m*-AAA protease is oriented toward the mitochondrial matrix side of the IM (Fig. 2). The *m*-AAA protease exists in two different oligomeric conformations composed of homooligomers of the zinc metalloprotease AFG3L2 or heterooligomers of AFG3L2 and the zinc metalloprotease paraplegin (Koppen et al., 2007).

Interestingly, the relative populations of AFG3L2 and paraplegin differ across mammalian tissues, suggesting that homooligomeric and heterooligomeric *m*-AAA proteases have distinct functions (Koppen et al., 2007). However, few specific substrates of the *m*-AAA protease have been identified. It is clear that the *m*-AAA protease has a critical role in regulating mitochondrial proteostasis through the degradation of damaged or misfolded proteins, as deletion of *m*-AAA subunits leads to disruption in mitochondrial proteostasis and activation of mitochondrial stress pathways (Richter et al., 2015; Yoneda et al., 2004). Furthermore, m-AAA proteolytic activity regulates mitochondrial calcium homeostasis through the degradation of unassembled essential mitochondrial calcium uniporter regulator (EMRE) subunits of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter (MCU) (Konig et al., 2016; Tsai et al., 2017). Because EMRE ensures the proper association of MCU protein with MICU1 gatekeeping subunit, impaired degradation of EMRE by either protease-resistant mutants of the subunit, or m-AAA protease knockout lead to calcium overload in mitochondria and sensitization to mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP) opening (Konig et al., 2016; Tsai et al., 2017). The m-AAA protease is also responsible for the maturation of the mitochondrial ribosomal subunit MRPL32, required for mitochondrial ribosome assembly and mitochondrial protein translation (Almajan et al., 2012; Nolden et al., 2005).

Apart from the *m*-AAA, the soluble AAA+ proteases LON and CLPXP also regulate proteostasis within the mitochondrial matrix. LON is a serine protease with orthologs found in organisms from bacteria to humans (Sauer and Baker, 2011). LON assembles as a homohexamer with each subunit containing both an AAA+ ATPase domain and a protected proteolytic core (Sauer and Baker, 2011). LON has a critical role in regulating mitochondrial matrix proteostasis through the degradation of oxidatively damaged and/or misfolded proteins such as aconitase (Bota and Davies, 2002, 2016; Bota et al., 2002). Furthermore, LON regulates many other aspects of mitochondrial function such as electron transport chain (ETC) activity, steroid synthesis, heme biosynthesis, and mitochondrial transcription through the degradation of specific proteins such as the complex IV subunit COX4-1, steroid acute regulatory protein, and 5-aminolevulinic acid synthase, respectively (Fukuda et al., 2007; Granot et al., 2007; Matsushima et al., 2010; Quiros et al., 2014; Tian et al., 2011). LON has also been shown to bind mtDNA in a process linked to the degradation of mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM) (Liu et al., 2004; Lu et al., 2007, 2013). The importance of LON for mitochondrial function is highlighted by the fact that mice lacking *Lon* are not viable (Quiros et al., 2014).

The CLPXP protease is a heterooligomeric protease composed of two different proteins: the AAA+ ATPase (CLPX) and the serine protease (CLPP). Like LON, the CLPXP protease can function as a general quality control protease in the mitochondrial matrix through the degradation of misfolded or nonnative protein conformations. The CLPXP protease has an important role in regulating mammalian mitochondrial proteostasis. Deletion of CLPP in mice leads to increased expression of mitochondrial proteostasis factors and mitochondrial dysfunction, likely reflecting an imbalance in mitochondrial proteome integrity (Deepa et al., 2015; Gispert et al., 2013). Additionally, CLPP is involved in the regulation of mitochondrial proteostasis through the mitochondrial unfolded protein response (UPR^{mt}) in C. elegans (Haynes et al., 2007), although similar roles for mammalian UPR^{mt} signaling have not been identified (Seiferling et al., 2016). Interestingly, apart from its role in proteolytic degradation, CLPX has been shown to work independent of CLPP in chaperoning the folding of specific proteins such as ALA synthase, indicating that this protein has a nonproteolytic role in regulating mitochondrial proteostasis (Kardon et al., 2015). Thus, while the substrate specificity of CLPXP remains to be established, it is clear that this protease has an important role in regulating mitochondrial proteostasis and function.

Apart from AAA+ ATP-dependent proteases, mitochondrial proteostasis is also regulated by a network of ATP-independent quality control proteases. Unlike the AAA+ proteases, these proteases generally have more specific proteolytic functions associated with aspects of mitochondrial biology such as the regulation of apoptotic signaling and mitochondrial dynamics. The presenilin-associated rhomboid-like (PARL) protease is an ATP-independent IM protease that can assemble into a proteolytic complex consisting of the AAA+ protease YME1L and the cardiolipin-binding protein stomatin-like protein 2 (SLP2) (Wai et al., 2016). This complex regulates PARL-dependent functions including the cleavage of the PTEN-induced putative kinase 1 (PINK1) involved in mitophagy (Jin et al., 2010) and the Ser/Thr protein phosphatase phosphoglycerate mutase family member 5 (PGAM5) linked to mitochondrial dynamics, respiration, and cell survival (Sekine et al., 2012). HTRA2 is a highly conserved trimeric serine protease that localizes to the IMS (Clausen et al., 2011). Deletion of HTRA2 leads to accumulation of unfolded mitochondrial proteins suggesting that this protein has an important role in degrading misfolded, nonnative, or damaged proteins within the IMS (Moisoi et al., 2009). HTRA2 activity has also been implicated in other mitochondrial functions, including mtDNA regulation, mitophagy, and apoptotic signaling (Chao et al., 2008; Cilenti et al., 2014; Kang et al., 2013; Suzuki et al., 2001). Finally, OMA1 is a stress-activated ATP-independent IM zinc metalloprotease with an active site oriented to the IMS (Baker et al., 2014; Kaser et al., 2003). OMA1 is normally maintained in a quiescent state that suppresses its protease activity (Anand et al., 2014; Head et al., 2009; Rainbolt et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2014). In response to specific insults that induce membrane depolarization such as oxidative stress, the OMA1 protease is activated resulting in the regulated processing of the dynamin-like GTPase OPA1 involved in dictating mitochondrial morphology during stress (discussed in detail below).

1.1.3 Oligopeptidases Degrade Polypeptides Within Mitochondria

Processing peptidases and quality control proteases both generate peptide fragments within mitochondria. The build-up of these peptides could disrupt mitochondrial proteostasis through mechanisms such as the feedback inhibition of mitochondrial proteases or binding to mitochondrial chaperones. Interestingly, mitochondrial-derived peptides can also be effluxed from mitochondria and serve as stress signals involved in the activation of stress-responsive signaling pathways (Arnold et al., 2006; Haynes et al., 2010; Young et al., 2001). Thus, controlling the levels of mitochondrial peptides is an important parameter in dictating mitochondrial proteostasis. This is primarily achieved by the activity of mitochondrial-localized oligopeptidases.

The most prominent mitochondrial oligopeptidase in the mitochondrial matrix is the metalloprotease PITRM1, also known as PreP. PreP degrades N-terminal—targeting sequences produced by MPP-dependent processing of precursor proteins (Alikhani et al., 2011a; Chow et al., 2009; Stahl et al., 2002). This degradation is important to prevent feedback inhibition of MPP, which can lead to mitochondrial proteotoxic stress through the accumulation of precursor proteins within the matrix. PreP has also been implicated in the degradation of mitochondrial-localized amyloid β peptides associated with Alzheimer's disease (Brunetti et al., 2015; Falkevall et al., 2006; Mossmann et al., 2014), indicating that this peptidase has a more global role in regulating peptide levels within mitochondria. PreP has also been suggested to facilitate the maturation of frataxin, a protein involved

in iron—sulfur biogenesis within mitochondria (Nabhan et al., 2015). Other peptidases including neurolysin (also known as oligopeptidase M or MEP) also function to degrade peptides within the IMS (Chow et al., 2009; Serizawa et al., 1995). These peptidases serve critical roles in regulating the levels of peptides localized to the matrix and IMS, preventing imbalances in mitochondrial proteostasis and stress-signaling.

1.2 Mitochondrial Proteases Are Key Regulators of Organellar Quality Control

Mitochondria are structurally heterogeneous organelles that demonstrate distinct morphologies in different mammalian tissues (Chan, 2012; Shutt and McBride, 2013; Wai and Langer, 2016). Furthermore, mitochondrial morphology is dynamically regulated to adapt mitochondrial function in response to environmental or metabolic challenges. These different morphologies can be accessed through the regulation of biologic pathways involved in mitochondrial fusion and fission. The capacity to adapt mitochondrial morphology through alterations in the relative activities of mitochondrial fusion and fission processes provides a unique opportunity to match mitochondrial function to tissue-specific or environmental challenges. For example, elongated mitochondria, which result from increased fusion or decreased fission, are associated with enhanced ETC activity and desensitization to apoptotic insult (Chan, 2012; Shutt and McBride, 2013; Wai and Langer, 2016). However, fragmented mitochondria, which result from increased fission or decreased fusion, show reduced ETC activity and are sensitized to stress-induced apoptosis (Chan, 2012; Shutt and McBride, 2013; Wai and Langer, 2016) but can promote mitochondrial proteostasis through the sequestration and degradation of damaged mitochondria by mitophagy (Youle and Narendra, 2011). Thus, the capacity to dynamically regulate mitochondrial morphology provides another level of quality control that cells utilize to sensitively regulate both mitochondrial proteostasis and function.

Mitochondrial dynamics are regulated by the activities of dynamin-like GTPases localized to the OM and IM (Chan, 2012; Shutt and McBride, 2013; van der Bliek et al., 2013; Wai and Langer, 2016). Mitochondrial fission is largely dictated by the dynamin-like GTPase dynamin-related protein 1 (DRP1). DRP1 is mainly located in the cytosol under basal condition and is recruited to the mitochondrial OM by receptors such as mitochondrial fission factor (MFF) and FIS1 for the fission process (Loson et al., 2013). This recruitment facilitates DRP1 oligomerization into ring

structures that promote mitochondrial fission through the constriction of the outer membrane. Conversely, mitochondrial fusion is regulated by the outer membrane GTPases mitofusin 1 (MFN1) and mitofusin 2 (MFN2) and the inner membrane GTPase OPA1. In this process, mitofusins form complexes through homotypic or heterotypic interactions that drive OM fusion through a GTP-dependent process. Long isoforms of OPA1 (l-OPA1) similarly utilize GTP to drive IM fusion events. Not surprisingly, the activities of these GTPases are highly regulated through a variety of posttranslational mechanisms, including phosphorylation, ubiquitination, sumoylation, and proteolytic processing, providing a mechanism to sensitively regulate mitochondrial morphology in response to specific cues (Chan, 2012; Shutt and McBride, 2013; van der Bliek et al., 2013; Wai and Langer, 2016). Here, we specifically focus on the role of mitochondrial proteases in the regulation of mitochondrial dynamics. For a more comprehensive review of other posttranslational mechanisms involved in the regulation of mitochondrial dynamics see (Chan, 2012; Shutt and McBride, 2013; van der Bliek et al., 2013; Wai and Langer, 2016).

1.2.1 Mitochondrial Morphology Is Regulated by the Activity of Mitochondrial Proteases

Mitochondrial fusion/fission factors localized to the OM are regulated by the UPS. E3 ubiquitin ligases such as PARKIN and MARCH5 reside on the OM and can ubiquitinate OM membrane proteins (Covill-Cooke et al., 2017). Interestingly, ubiquitination of MFN1/2 by one or both of these E3 ligases leads to the degradation of these OM fusion factors (Park and Cho, 2012; Tanaka et al., 2010). UPS-dependent degradation of MFN1/2 attenuates mitochondrial fusion and in turn promotes mitochondrial fission (Yue et al., 2014). Interestingly, the OM deubiquitinase USP15 and USP30 suppress MFN1/2 ubiquitination, inhibiting proteasomal degradation and thus promoting mitochondrial fusion (Cunningham et al., 2015; Liang et al., 2015; Yue et al., 2014). Thus, the relative activities of PARKIN and MARCH5 versus USP15/30 regulate MFN1/2 stability, directly influencing mitochondrial morphology. DRP1 can also be ubiquitinated by MARCH5, although this modification does not appear to be associated with DRP1 degradation, but instead could be involved in promoting DRP1-dependent fission (Karbowski et al., 2007; Nakamura et al., 2006).

By contrast, the predominant IM dynamin-like GTPase OPA1 is not accessible to the UPS. Instead, OPA1 is regulated through a highly

Stress-Responsive Regulation of Mitochondrial Proteases



Figure 3 Illustration showing the functional role for YME1L and OMA1 in regulating mitochondrial morphology through the regulated processing of the inner membrane GTPAse OPA1. YME1L constitutively cleaves a subset of OPA1 containing the Site 2 YME1L cleavage site to establish a distribution of long-OPA1 (I-OPA1) and short-OPA1 (s-OPA1) required for maintaining mitochondrial tubular morphology. Upon depolarization of mitochondria, OMA1 is activated resulting in the cleavage of all OPA1 at the Site 1 OMA1 cleavage site. This OMA1-dependent processing of OPA1 to s-OPA1 promoting mitochondrial fragmentation.

coordinated mechanism involving the IM proteases YME1L and OMA1 (Fig. 3). OPA1 is expressed as eight distinct mRNA transcripts that predominantly differ in the presence or absence of the S5b exon (Ishihara et al., 2006; Song et al., 2007). All of these transcripts contain an OMA1 proteolytic cleavage site referred to as Site 1. However, only a population of these transcripts contains the Site 2 cleavage site encoded by the S5b exon, which is selectively cleaved by YME1L. OPA1 exists as long (I-OPA1) and short (s-OPA1) isoforms that distinctly influence mitochondrial fusion and fission (Anand et al., 2014; Ishihara et al., 2006). I-OPA1 isoforms are full-length, membrane-integrated OPA1 proteins that are generally associated with mitochondrial fusion. YME1L and OMA1 differentially cleave l-OPA1 isoforms to produce s-OPA1 (Anand et al., 2014). YME1L constitutively cleaves the subset of 1-OPA1 containing the Site 2 cleavage site to produce a distinct isoform of s-OPA1. This YME1L-dependent OPA1 processing is important for establishing the distribution of I-OPA1 and s-OPA1 involved in promoting and maintaining tubular mitochondrial morphology (Anand et al., 2014; Griparic et al., 2007; Mishra et al., 2014; Song et al., 2007). Alternatively, the stress-activated OMA1 protease cleaves all l-OPA1 isoforms at the Site 1 cleavage site to produce s-OPA1 isoforms, which promotes mitochondrial fragmentation (Anand et al., 2014; Mishra et al., 2014; Song et al., 2007). The recovery of tubular mitochondrial morphology from this fragmented state requires the suppression of OMA1

protease activity and de novo synthesis of l-OPA1 (Anand et al., 2014; Mishra et al., 2014; Rainbolt et al., 2016; Song et al., 2007). As such, the balance of YME1L- and OMA1-dependent OPA1 processing is a key determinant in dictating mitochondrial morphology, and thus mitochondrial function, in response to acute insults (discussed in detail below).

1.2.2 Proteolytic Control of Mitophagy

The regulation of mitochondrial dynamics also facilitates the degradation of damaged mitochondria through mitophagy. In this process, mitochondria are sequestered in autophagosomes that are then directed to the lysosome for degradation. Mitophagy can function to nonselectively degrade mitochondria in response to stress insults such as starvation that induces a global cellular autophagic response (Youle and Narendra, 2011). However, mitophagy also provides a mechanism to selectively remove damaged mitochondria in response to stresses such as mitochondrial depolarization or the accumulation of misfolded mitochondrial proteins. The ability to selectively degrade damaged mitochondria allows cells to maintain the global integrity of the mitochondrial population, preventing potential imbalances in mitochondrial function that could challenge cellular viability.

The mitochondrial proteolytic network has a central role in regulating mitophagy of damaged mitochondria in response to stress. Damaged mitochondria are predominantly identified through a mechanism involving PINK1 and the E3 ligase PARKIN (Matsuda et al., 2010). Under normal conditions, PINK1 is imported into mitochondria and incorporated into the IM as a transmembrane protein. In the IM, PINK1 is processed by MPP and then cleaved by the mitochondrial protease PARL, releasing PINK1 to the cytosol where it can be degraded by the proteasome (Greene et al., 2012; Thomas et al., 2014). PINK1 degradation can also be regulated by other mitochondrial proteases, including AFG3L2 and LON (Greene et al., 2012; Thomas et al., 2014). This degradation of PINK1 functions to suppress its activity on the mitochondrial OM (Yamano and Youle, 2013). Conversely, mitochondrial insults that induce depolarization impair PINK1 import into the mitochondrial IM, inhibiting its degradation and facilitating PINK1 incorporation into the OM (Okatsu et al., 2013). Localization of PINK1 to the OM recruits the E3 ligase PARKIN to mitochondria, which promotes fragmentation through the ubiquitination of MFN1/2 and degradation of other OM proteins through the UPS (Chan et al., 2011; Ziviani et al., 2010). PARKIN recruitment and subsequent ubiquitination of OM proteins facilitate formation of the autophagasome required for lysosomal-dependent degradation of mitochondria through autophagy (Harper et al., 2018; Koyano et al., 2014; Okatsu et al., 2013, 2015). Apart from the PINK1/PARKIN pathway, mitophagy can be initiated through other mechanisms involving mitochondrial receptors such as NIX, BNIP3, and FUNDC1 that interact with the microtubule-associated protein LC3 directly to induce autophagasome formation (Hamacher-Brady and Brady, 2016; Novak and Dikic, 2011; Novak et al., 2010; Sandoval et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2014).

1.3 Mitochondrial Proteases Link Mitochondrial Proteostasis to Apoptotic Signaling

Mitochondrial integrity is a key regulator of intrinsic apoptotic signaling pathways. In this process, mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP) leads to the release of proapoptotic factors, including cytochrome *c*, Smac, and AIF, from mitochondria to the cytosol. The release of these factors induces assembly of the apoptosome allowing the activation of initiator and executioner caspases that mediate the apoptotic program (Tait and Green, 2013). MOMP is regulated by the relative activities of several proapoptotic (e.g., Bad, Bax, Bak) and prosurvival (Bcl-2 and Bcl-xl) Bcl-2 family members located on the OM. Many factors can influence intrinsic apoptotic signaling through the expression of Bcl-2 family members or altering the activity of downstream signaling mechanisms (Gillies and Kuwana, 2014). However, it is clear that mitochondrial proteases are contributors to the activation and regulation of apoptosis induced by intrinsic signals.

The IMS quality control serine protease HTRA2 has been implicated in diverse regulatory roles involved in apoptotic signaling. HTRA2 is expressed as a transmembrane protein that can be activated through proteolytic processing by PARL and/or an autocatalytic mechanism (Chao et al., 2008; Seong et al., 2004). The release of activated HTRA2 to the cytosol promotes apoptosis through the degradation of antiapoptotic factors such as X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis (Hegde et al., 2002; Suzuki et al., 2001). However, PARL-dependent HTRA2 activation has been proposed to suppress accumulation of proapoptotic BCL-2 proteins on the OM, suggesting an antiapoptotic role for HTRA2 (Chao et al., 2008). These results highlight that HTRA2 appears to be mitochondrial protease that is a key regulator of apoptotic signaling pathways.

Apoptotic signaling also involves both mitochondrial fragmentation and disruption of cristae, which is thought to facilitate the release of cytochrome c during apoptosis (Cipolat et al., 2006; Frezza et al., 2006; Varanita et al., 2015). This suggests that mitochondrial proteases such as YME1L and OMA1 involved in regulating mitochondrial morphology through OPA1 processing could influence apoptotic signaling because OPA1 maintains cristae organization (Olichon et al., 2003). OMA1 deletion inhibits stress-induced OPA1 processing required for mitochondrial fragmentation and disruption of cristae integrity necessary for cytochrome c release (Anand et al., 2014; Head et al., 2009; Olichon et al., 2003). As such, OMA1-deficient cells show a reduced sensitivity to apoptotic insult (Anand et al., 2014; Head et al., 2009; Xiao et al., 2014). Alternatively, YME1L-deficient cells show increased mitochondrial fragmentation and disrupted cristae morphology, resulting in increased sensitivity to apoptotic stimuli (Anand et al., 2014; Rainbolt et al., 2015; Stiburek et al., 2012). Interestingly, OMA1 deletion in YME1L-deficient cells rescues these phenotypes, indicating that the increased sensitivity to apoptotic stimuli in YME1L-deficient cells largely results from imbalances in OPA1 processing (Anand et al., 2014). PARL has also been implicated in the regulation of apoptotic signaling through OPA1 processing (Pellegrini and Scorrano, 2007) and other mechanisms involved in regulating cristae morphology and cytochrome c release (Cipolat et al., 2006; Frezza et al., 2006). In addition, PARL processes the proapoptotic SMAC/Diablo to release this proapoptotic factor to the cytosol (Saita et al., 2017).

Other mitochondrial proteases have also been implicated in the regulation of apoptotic signaling, although direct roles for these proteases in the regulation of apoptotic signaling mechanisms remain to be established. LON has been suggested to influence apoptosis through its association with the mitochondrial chaperones HSP60 and mtHSP70 (HSPA9); however, the dependence of apoptosis on LON protease activity is currently undefined (Kao et al., 2015). YME1L can also influence apoptotic signaling through the degradation of PRELID1, which is involved in cardiolipin synthesis and subsequently cytochrome c release (Potting et al., 2013). While the specific contributions for these other proteases in intrinsic apoptotic signaling induced by specific stresses remain to be further defined; it is clear that the maintenance of mitochondrial proteolytic systems is important to regulate apoptotic signaling pathways in response to diverse pathologic insults.

1.4 Stress-Responsive Regulation of the Mitochondrial Proteolytic Network

Mitochondrial proteostasis and function are challenged by diverse insults including environmental toxins, metabolic stress, and aging. All of these insults can increase the accumulation of misfolded or aggregated proteins within mitochondria and lead to the pathologic disruption of mitochondrial function. To protect mitochondria in response to these insults, cells evolved a network of stress-responsive signaling mechanisms that regulate the composition and activity of mitochondrial proteostasis pathways. Mitochondrial proteases and their activities are key determinants in this stress-responsive regulation. The capacity to influence mitochondrial proteostasis, organellar morphology, and apoptotic signaling through the regulation of proteolytic activity provides a mechanism to adapt mitochondrial function to the cellular or metabolic demands imposed by a specific type of stress or insult (Quiros et al., 2015; Shpilka and Haynes, 2018). Here, we describe the transcriptional and translational stress-responsive signaling mechanisms by which cells adapt mitochondrial proteostasis and function to specific cell stresses.

1.4.1 Mitochondrial Unfolded Protein Response-Dependent Regulation of Mitochondrial Proteostasis

The preeminent stress-responsive signaling pathway responsible for regulating mitochondrial proteostasis is the mitochondrial UPR^{mt} (Shpilka and Haynes, 2018). The UPR^{mt} is activated in response to imbalances in mitochondrial matrix proteostasis (e.g., the accumulation of misfolded or unassembled mitochondrial proteins). Many different types of cellular insults can activate the UPR^{mt} in eukaryotes, including deletion of mitochondrial quality control proteases (Benedetti et al., 2006; Yoneda et al., 2004), overexpression of a misfolding-prone mitochondrial matrix protein (e.g., Δ OTC) (Aldridge et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2002), inhibition of mitochondrial translation (Houtkooper et al., 2013), and alterations in mitochondrial cofactor levels (Baker et al., 2012a; Durieux et al., 2011). Activation of the UPR^{mt} functions to adapt mitochondrial proteostasis factors involved in protein import, folding, and proteolysis. Through this upregulation, stress-induced imbalances in mitochondrial proteostasis are

alleviated, and mitochondrial function is adapted to match demands associated with the specific insult.

The signaling mechanism of the UPR^{mt} has predominantly been defined in C. elegans, where it has been shown that mitochondrial proteases play a key role in regulating UPR^{mt} signaling. The worm UPR^{mt} can be activated by several genetic manipulations that increase protein misfolding within the mitochondrial matrix (e.g., RNAi-depletion of the *m*-AAA subunit *spg-7*) (Benedetti et al., 2006). This increase in protein misfolding is initially detected through the increased degradation of mitochondrial proteins by the CLPXP quality control protease (Haynes et al., 2007). Peptides derived from the CLPXP-dependent proteolysis are exported across the IM to the IMS through the HAF-1 ABC peptide transporter (Haynes et al., 2010). In the IMS, these peptides function to dictate the localization of the UPR^{mt}-associated transcription factor ATFS-1. In the absence of stress, ATFS-1 is targeted to mitochondria by an N-terminal-targeting sequence and imported across the OM and IM into the mitochondrial matrix (Nargund et al., 2012). In the matrix, ATFS-1 is degraded by the LON protease, suppressing its transcriptional activity. However, the increased efflux of peptides through HAF-1 induced by mitochondrial stress attenuates ATFS-1 import into mitochondria through an undefined mechanism (Nargund et al., 2012). This reduced import of ATFS-1 allows this transcription factor to be targeted to the nucleus by a nuclear localization sequence located on the C-terminus of the ATFS-1 protein. In the nucleus, ATFS-1 coordinates with other nuclear transcriptional regulators such as DVE-1 and UBL-5 to induce expression of UPR^{mt} target genes, which includes many mitochondrial proteases (Benedetti et al., 2006; Haynes et al., 2007; Nargund et al., 2012).

Mammals also possess a UPR^{mt}, although the signaling mechanism(s) responsible for the mammalian UPR^{mt} remains less well defined (Fig. 4). The mammalian UPR^{mt} is activated by stress insults that disrupt proteostasis within mitochondria such as overexpression of misfolding-prone proteins (Aldridge et al., 2007; Horibe and Hoogenraad, 2007; Zhao et al., 2002), inhibition of mitochondrial translation (Houtkooper et al., 2013), and the modulation of NAD+ levels (Mouchiroud et al., 2013). Interestingly, signaling through the mammalian UPR^{mt} appears to be different than that observed in *C. elegans*. Recently, the mammalian homolog of ATFS-1, ATF5, was identified and shown to be regulated through mechanism similar to that shown for ATFS-1 and involving stress-dependent localization between mitochondria and the nucleus (Fiorese et al., 2016). However, the

Stress-Responsive Regulation of Mitochondrial Proteases



Figure 4 Illustration showing the mechanism(s) predicted to be involved in mammalian UPR^{mt} signaling. In the absence of stress, ATF5 transcriptional activity is suppressed through its targeting to the mitochondrial matrix. In response to proteotoxic stress within mitochondria, ATF5 import is attenuated, allowing its localization to the nucleus and subsequent activation of UPR^{mt}-associated genes. Mitochondrial proteotoxic stress can potentially influence UPR^{mt} signaling through multiple other mechanisms including activation of JNK2 and eIF2α phosphorylation, as discussed in the text.

potential dependence of this regulated import on peptide-efflux through an HAF-1-dependent channel has not been defined. Furthermore, CLPP is not required for activating the UPR^{mt} in the mammalian heart, suggesting that mammalian UPR^{mt} signaling proceeds through a CLPP-independent mechanism at least in this tissue (Seiferling et al., 2016).

In contrast, mammalian UPR^{mt} signaling has been proposed to involve many other stress-responsive signaling mechanisms. The JNK2 signaling cascade can be activated by mitochondrial stress and lead to downstream activation of the transcription factor c-Jun (Horibe and Hoogenraad, 2007). c-Jun in turn binds to the AP-1 sites in the promoters of the stress-responsive transcription factors C/EBP homologous protein (CHOP) and C/EBP β inducing their expression (Horibe and Hoogenraad, 2007) (Fig. 4). These transcription factors form homodimers and/or heterodimers that bind to CHOP elements found in the promoters of many mitochondrial proteostasis genes (Zhao et al., 2002). However, it is unlikely that these transcription factors function alone to induce mammalian UPR^{mt} signaling, as they are activated in response to many different types of stress (see below), making it difficult to convey selectivity of a UPR^{mt} transcriptional response. Consistent with this, identification of mitochondrial UPR elements (MUREs), which are not bound by CHOP, in the promoter region of mitochondrial proteostasis genes suggests other transcriptional regulators are involved in dictating the selectivity associated with UPR^{mt} activation (Aldridge et al., 2007). Interestingly, CHOP and other stress-responsive transcription factors (e.g., ATF4) can induce ATF5 in response to other types of proteotoxic stress (Fusakio et al., 2016; Kilberg et al., 2012; Teske et al., 2013; Zhou et al., 2008), suggesting that an ATF5-selective UPR^{mt} transcriptional response could be regulated downstream of these other stress-responsive transcription factor. However, this transcriptional relationship remains to be established. Other pathways, including the AKT signaling pathway and estrogen receptor signaling, are activated through a reactive oxygen species (ROS)-mediated mechanism in response to proteotoxic insults localized to the IMS in a process referred to the IMS UPR^{mt} (Papa and Germain, 2011). This suggests that different signaling mechanisms may be utilized to adapt mammalian mitochondrial proteostasis to specific types of proteotoxic insults that challenge distinct mitochondrial subcompartments.

The lack of specific signaling factors involved in the mammalian UPR^{mt} has challenged the ability to explicitly define the transcriptional program induced by this stress-responsive pathway. However, the transcriptional response for the worm UPR^{mt} has been defined by identifying genes regulated by the UPR^{mt} transcription factor ATFS-1 (Nargund et al., 2012). This analysis showed that the worm UPR^{mt} sensitively adapts the composition and activity of mitochondrial proteostasis pathways through the selective upregulation of specific import factors (e.g., Tim-17 and Tim-23), chaperones (e.g., HSP60), and proteases (e.g., YME-1) (Nargund et al., 2012). However, key mitochondrial proteostasis factors such as LON and CLPP were not induced by ATFS-1 in response to mitochondrial stress. This selective remodeling of mitochondrial proteostasis pathways may provide a mechanism to support adaption of mitochondrial function in response to mitochondrial proteotoxic stress. For example, ATFS-1 also regulates expression of glycolytic genes suggesting that UPR^{mt} activation promotes a metabolic shift for ATP production from respiration to glycolysis (Nargund et al., 2012). ATFS-1 also induces expression of transcriptional programs involved in ROS detoxification and innate immunity (Nargund et al., 2012). Selective adaptation of mitochondrial proteostasis pathways could provide a mechanism to facilitate alterations in mitochondrial functions to support the increased activities of these other programs. For example, the upregulation of YME-1 could increase YME-1—dependent degradation of damaged or unassembled respiratory chain subunits, preventing the accumulation of ROS-damaged ETC subunits and promoting an energetic shift to glycolysis.

It is currently unclear whether the mammalian UPR^{mt} also induces selective remodeling of mitochondrial proteostasis pathways. Initial experiments using a transcriptional reporter approach where mitochondrial stress was induced by overexpression of a misfolding-prone matrix protein showed that selective mitochondrial proteostasis factors, including the import subunit Tim17 A, the mitochondrial chaperone HSP60, and the mitochondrial proteases MPP, YME1L, AFG3L2, and CLPP, were induced by the UPR^{mt}, whereas other proteostasis factors such as mitochondrial HSP70 and LON were not (Aldridge et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2002). However, more recent studies using quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) show that *mtHSP70* and *LON* are both induced by UPR^{mt}-activating insults in mammalian cells (Fiorese et al., 2016). These results suggest that, unlike the worm UPR^{mt}, mammalian UPR^{mt} signaling may not promote the same type of selective remodeling of mitochondrial proteostasis pathways. However, more experiments are required to further define the scope of mitochondrial proteostasis remodeling induced by the mammalian UPR^{mt}.

While it is becoming increasingly clear that the UPR^{mt} is involved in regulating many aspects of mitochondria and organismal health (e.g., energy metabolism, longevity, and innate immunity), the functional importance of UPR^{mt}-dependent adaptation of mitochondrial proteostasis pathways for mitochondrial function remain to be established. In mammals, establishing this type of relationship is hindered by our poor understanding of the signaling mechanism(s) involved in the mammalian UPR^{mt} activation. As new, specific components of this pathway are found, the transcriptional profile of the mammalian UPR^{mt} can be better established, revealing the scope of the transcriptional program involved in regulating mitochondrial and global cellular physiology in response to mitochondrial proteotoxic insults. This will in turn provide new opportunities to define the specific role of UPR^{mt}-dependent proteostasis adaptation in adapting mitochondrial function to environmental or metabolic demands induced by a specific stress insult.

1.4.2 The Integrated Stress Response Coordinates Mitochondrial Proteostasis in Response to Diverse Insults

Apart from the UPR^{mt}, the Integrated Stress Response (ISR) has also been identified as a key stress-responsive signaling mechanism responsible for regulating mitochondrial proteostasis and function (Pakos-Zebrucka et al., 2016; Quiros et al., 2016). The ISR is a multifaceted stress-responsive signaling pathway regulated by a network of stress-responsive kinases, including protein kinase R (PKR), general control nonderepressible 2 (GCN2), heme-regulated inhibitor (HRI), and the PKR-like ER kinase (PERK) (Fig. 5) (Pakos-Zebrucka et al., 2016). These kinases are activated in response to diverse cellular insults including viral infection, amino acid deprivation, oxidative stress, and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress. Upon activation, these kinases phosphorylate the S51 residue of the eukaryotic initiation factor 2α subunit (eIF2 α). Phosphorylation of eIF2 α inhibits the activity of the eIF2B GTP exchange factor involved in translation initiation, resulting in a transient attenuation in new protein synthesis. This attenuation in synthesis functions to promote global cellular proteostasis by reducing the load of newly synthesized proteins, freeing proteostasis factors to prevent pathologic disruptions in cellular proteome integrity.

Apart from reducing translation, $eIF2\alpha$ phosphorylation also activates stress-responsive transcription factors such as activating transcription factor



Figure 5 Illustration showing the signaling mechanisms associated with the integrated stress response. Four different kinases activated by distinct insults initiate ISR signaling through the phosphorylation of $elF2\alpha$. This leads to both translation attenuation and activation of ISR-associated transcription factors such as ATF4.

Stress-Responsive Regulation of Mitochondrial Proteases

4 (ATF4) (Pakos-Zebrucka et al., 2016; Quiros et al., 2016; Young and Wek, 2016). ATF4 is selectively translated in response to $eIF2\alpha$ phosphorvlation through a mechanism involving uORFs in its 5' UTR (Young and Wek, 2016). In response to stresses that increase $eIF2\alpha$ phosphorylation, ATF4 is translated allowing ATF4-dependent expression of cellular proteostasis factors involved in redox homeostasis, amino acid biosynthesis, and ER proteostasis maintenance (Han et al., 2013; Harding et al., 2003). ATF4 also induces the expression of additional stress-responsive transcription factors such as CHOP—the same transcription factor involved in UPR^{mt} signaling (Harding et al., 2000). As part of the ISR, CHOP induces expression of additional proteostasis factors including GADD34-a regulatory phosphatase subunit that interacts with protein phosphatase 1 to dephosphorylate eIF2a in an ISR negative feedback pathway that restores translational integrity following acute insult (Ma and Hendershot, 2003; Novoa et al., 2001). CHOP activation also promotes proapoptotic signaling in response to severe or sustained toxic insults through complex mechanisms involving the expression of proapoptotic factors and/or increasing cellular oxidative stress (Han et al., 2013; Hetz and Papa, 2018; Sano and Reed, 2013). Thus, ISRdependent activation of stress-responsive transcription factors such a CHOP and ATF4 serves a critical role in dictating both prosurvival adaptation of cellular proteostasis and activation of proapoptotic signaling pathways in response to varying types and extents of cellular stress.

Mitochondrial stress has been shown to activate the ISR through multiple mechanisms. In C. elegans, mitochondrial stress induced by RNAi-depletion of the m-AAA subunit spg-7 leads to increased activation of the ISR kinase GCN2 (Baker et al., 2012a). The activation of the ISR in response to this stress is predicted to function in a parallel mechanism to the UPR^{mt} to regulate mitochondrial proteostasis and function in response to mitochondrial proteotoxic insults. Similarly, mitochondrial stress in mammals activates eIF2a kinases such as GCN2, PKR, or HRI (Martinez-Reyes et al., 2012; Michel et al., 2015; Rath et al., 2012; Viader et al., 2013), indicating mitochondrial dysfunction can activate multiple ISR kinases in metazoans. Not surprisingly considering the link between mitochondrial stress and the ISR, ATF4 is also activated in response to diverse mitochondrial insults, including membrane depolarization, disruption of protein import, imbalances in OXPHOS protein stability, and inhibition of mitochondrial translation in an eIF2a phosphorylation-dependent manner (Quiros et al., 2017). Interestingly, knocking down individually the different ISR kinases failed to inhibit ATF4 activation under these

conditions, likely reflecting the capacity for mitochondrial stress to signal through multiple eIF2 α kinases. CHOP activity is also activated in response to mitochondrial stress through an ISR-associated mechanism (Michel et al., 2015).

The above results suggest that the ISR has an important role in regulating mitochondrial proteostasis and function in response to diverse pathologic insults that activate ISR-associated kinases. Consistent with this, ISR activation transcriptionally regulates many aspects of mitochondrial proteostasis factors. The PERK-dependent activation of ATF4 and CHOP in response to ER stress, a condition induced by accumulation of misfolded proteins within the ER lumen, increases expression of mitochondrial chaperones (e.g., mtHSP70) and the quality control protease LON (Han et al., 2013; Harding et al., 2003; Hori et al., 2002; Lebeau et al., 2018). The increased expression of LON could reflect a mechanism to increase mitochondrial proteostastic capacity to degrade misfolded, nonnative, or oxidatively damaged mitochondrial proteins that accumulate in response to this insult. Many insults that activate the ISR lead to increased production of ROS that could damage mitochondrial proteome. LON preferentially degrades oxidatively modified proteins (Bota and Davies, 2002), suggesting that its increased expression could serve to prevent the potentially toxic accumulation of damaged proteins during these stresses. Consistent with this, overexpression of LON protects cells from mitochondrial dysfunction induced by ER stress—a potent activator of the ISR kinase PERK (Hori et al., 2002). However, overexpression of a proteolytically inactive LON can also alleviate ER stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction, suggesting LON could also promote mitochondrial function through nondegradative mechanisms in response to ER stress (Hori et al., 2002).

The yeast mtHSP70 has been shown to cooperate with the yeast LON homolog PIM1 to degrade misfolded proteins in the mitochondrial matrix (Savel'ev et al., 1998; Wagner et al., 1994). This suggests that the coordinated regulation of LON and mtHSP70 by the ISR may provide a mechanism to selectively facilitate LON-dependent degradation of damaged mitochondrial proteins through mechanisms such as preventing stress-induced aggregation of misfolded proteins and/or altering the substrate specificity of LON (Bender et al., 2011; Savel'ev et al., 1998; Wagner et al., 1994). Interestingly, the subset of mitochondrial stress-genes regulated by ATF4 during mitochondrial stress is predicted to be distinct from those regulated by the UPR^{mt} (Quiros et al., 2017). This suggests that the ISR and UPR^{mt} could serve as complementary mechanisms to regulate

mitochondria in response to stress, mirroring the relationship between these pathways observed in worm. However, the shared involvement of many ISR and UPR^{mt} signaling factors, including ATF4, CHOP, and ATF5, suggests that these two pathways could also be highly integrated to regulate mitochondria in response to distinct types of proteotoxic insults (Fig. 4). Thus, further experiments are necessary to define the transcriptional relationship between ISR and UPR^{mt} signaling in mammals.

Apart from transcriptional signaling, translational attenuation induced by the ISR also leads to remodeling of mitochondrial protein import pathways through the selective degradation of the core TIM23 subunit Tim17A. In mammals, the IM TIM23 protein import complex exists in two distinct subunit compositions defined by the presence of a Tim17A or Tim17B subunit. Currently, functional differences between these two Tim17 homologs are poorly defined, although some experiments suggest that they differ in their ability to import nontraditional mitochondrial substrates (Sinha et al., 2014). In response to ISR-dependent translational attenuation, Tim17A, but not Tim17B, is rapidly degraded by the YME1L quality control protease (Rainbolt et al., 2013). YME1L-dependent Tim17A degradation decreases the population of import competent TIM23 complexes and thus reduces mitochondrial protein import into the matrix. Interestingly, depletion of Tim17A increases stress resistance to diverse types of stresses such as As(III) and paraquat, indicating that ISR-dependent Tim17A degradation is a protective mechanism to suppress import during acute insult (Rainbolt et al., 2013). This protection could be afforded by reducing the population of newly imported proteins entering mitochondria, which decreases the folding load in the mitochondrial matrix and frees mitochondrial chaperones and proteases to protect the conformational integrity of the established mitochondrial proteome. Alternatively, Tim17A degradation could function as a mechanism to regulate the import of specific stress-responsive transcription factors such as ATF5, facilitating their activation (Fig. 4). While RNAi depletion of the Tim17A homolog tim-17 in C. elegans does activate the UPR^{mt} (Rainbolt et al., 2013), further experiments are necessary to confirm this potential relationship in mammalian cells. Interestingly, the posttranslational regulation of Tim17A induced downstream of ISR-regulated translational attenuation suggests that the stability of other mitochondrial proteins could similarly be regulated through this mechanism, although other examples have not yet been identified to date.

Consistent with the above, translational attenuation induced by ER stress-dependent activation of the ISR kinase PERK also influences mitochondrial morphology during ER stress. PERK-regulated translational attenuation promotes stress-induced mitochondrial hyperfusion (SIMH) (Tondera et al., 2009) in response to ER stress through a mechanism requiring the cardiolipin-binding protein SLP2 (Lebeau et al., 2018). ER stress-induced SIMH is attenuated in cells deficient in the inner membrane protease YME1L, indicating that this protease regulates both SIMH and TIM17 A degradation in response to PERK-regulated translational attenuation. These results show that the PERK-YME1L signaling axis is a critical stress-signaling mechanism responsible for regulating mitochondria in response to ER stress. While the mechanism and functional implications of PERK-regulated SIMH remains to be fully established, SLP2-dependent elongation appears to protect mitochondrial metabolic capacity and prevent premature fragmentation in response to acute ER stress (Lebeau et al., 2018). Although it is currently unclear whether other ISR-activating insults similarly promote SIMH downstream of eIF2a-phosphorylation-dependent translation attenuation, these results show that PERK-dependent ISR activation integrates transcriptional and translational signaling to coordinate mitochondrial proteostasis and morphology, revealing a global role for this pathway in regulating mitochondria in response to ER insults (Lebeau et al., 2018; Rainbolt et al., 2014).

The above results show that ISR signaling is a key determinant in dictating protective remodeling of mitochondrial proteostasis and function in response to acute cellular insults. However, critical questions remain about the specific role for the ISR in regulating mitochondria. For example, what is the functional interplay between the mammalian ISR and UPR^{mt}? Do other stress pathways integrate their signaling to modulate ISR-dependent regulation of mitochondria in response to distinct insults? What biochemical pathways are dependent on ISR-dependent regulation of mitochondria, these (and other) questions will be answered, further revealing ISR signaling as a core stress-responsive signaling pathway important for regulating mitochondria.

1.4.3 LON Is Also Transcriptionally Regulated by Other Stress-Responsive Signaling Pathways

Apart from the ISR and UPR^{mt}, the mitochondrial protease LON is also transcriptionally regulated by other stress-responsive signaling pathways

Stress-Responsive Regulation of Mitochondrial Proteases

(Bota and Davies, 2016). For example, hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) induces LON expression in response to hypoxic conditions (Fukuda et al., 2007). HIF-1 is a heterodimeric transcription factor comprising HIF-1 α and HIF-1 β subunits. Under normoxic conditions, HIF-1 is targeted for proteasomal degradation through a mechanism involving the hydroxylation and ubiquitination of HIF-1 α . Reductions in cellular oxygen levels inhibit HIF-1 α hydroxylation, stabilizing this protein and facilitating its nuclear localization. In the nucleus, HIF-1 α interacts with HIF-1 β to form the active HIF-1 transcription factor. Activated HIF-1 binds to hypoxia-related elements (HREs) in the promoters of genes involved in the regulation of oxygen homeostasis including angiogenesis factors and metabolic genes. LON also contains HREs in its promoter, allowing it to be efficiently induced by HIF-1 activation (Fukuda et al., 2007).

HIF-1—dependent expression of LON promotes mitochondrial proteostasis and function in response to hypoxic injury by suppressing the potentially toxic accumulation of oxidatively damaged mitochondrial proteins that can accumulate under these conditions (Bota and Davies, 2002; Bota et al., 2002). Interestingly, HIF-1—dependent increases in LON may also be involved in the functional adaptation of complex IV during hypoxia. In response to reductions in oxygen, the complex IV subunit COXIV-1 is degraded and replaced by the stress-resistant COXIV-2 subunit, another HIF-1 transcriptional target (Fukuda et al., 2007). COXIV-2 is more efficient at electron transfer in hypoxic cells, allowing improved respiratory chain activity under these conditions. LON may facilitate this process through mechanisms such as the degradation of COXIV-1 or incorporation of COXIV-2 into complex IV, although a specific role for LON in this process remains to be established.

LON is also transcriptionally regulated by the nuclear respiratory transcription factor 2 (NRF-2) (Bahat et al., 2015; Pinti et al., 2011). NRF-2 is a stress-responsive transcription factor responsible for regulating the expression of many antioxidant and proteostasis factors following acute oxidative stress. In the absence of stress, NRF-2 activity is repressed by the activity of the KEAP E3 ligase, which ubiquitinates NRF-2 and directs this protein to proteasomal degradation. Oxidative stress impairs KEAPdependent ubiquitination of NRF-2 allowing nuclear localization and transcriptional activity. The LON gene contains two NRF-2—binding elements in its promoter region (Bahat et al., 2015; Pinti et al., 2011), suggesting that NRF-2 can regulate *LON* expression. NRF-2—dependent induction of LON has been shown in cell models overexpressing the mitochondrial matrix protein StAR (Granot et al., 2007). In response to the accumulation of StAR within mitochondria, cells initiate a stress response, referred to as the StAR overload response (SOR), which activates NRF-2 signaling and increases LON expression through an unknown mechanism (Bahat et al., 2015). Interestingly, the increased expression of LON through the SOR likely reflects the need for increased cellular capacity to degrade mitochondrial StAR, which has been shown to be a LON substrate. Similarly, SOR transcriptionally induces other mitochondrial proteases involved in StAR degradation, including *YME1L*, *SPG7*, and *AFG3L2* (Bahat et al., 2014, 2015), although the specific requirement for NRF-2 in the induction of these other proteases remains to be defined. NRF-2 activation has also been proposed to be induced downstream of the ISR kinases such as PERK (Cullinan et al., 2003), suggesting that NRF-2 could also influence *LON* expression during ISR-activating insults.

The capacity for cells to regulate *LON* through multiple stress-responsive signaling pathways highlights the importance of this protease in protecting mitochondrial proteostasis and function. A predominant function of LON is to degrade damaged proteins in the mitochondrial matrix before they misfold and/or aggregate into toxic conformations that disrupt mitochondrial function (Bota and Davies, 2016). However, alterations in LON activity could also serve to sensitively adapt mitochondrial functions during stress through mechanisms such as COXIV remodeling and StAR degradation. This suggests the intriguing possibility that cells can actively adapt mitochondrial function to specific environmental or metabolic demands through the specific stress-responsive regulation of the LON protease.

1.4.4 Posttranslational Regulation of Mitochondrial Proteolytic Activity

Apart from transcriptional regulation, mitochondrial proteases are also subject to posttranslational regulation. One of the best characterized examples of this is the regulation of OMA1 proteolytic activity (Fig. 6). OMA1 exists in mitochondria as an inactive protease. In response to cellular insults that activate OMA1 proteolytic activity (e.g., membrane depolarization), OMA1 induces rapid processing of the inner membrane GTPase OPA1 to promote mitochondrial fission (Anand et al., 2014; Head et al., 2009; Rainbolt et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2014). Interestingly, the activated OMA1 protease then undergoes degradation, which serves to restrict OMA1 proteolytic activity (Baker et al., 2014; Rainbolt et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2014). This OMA1 degradation requires both OMA1 proteolytic



YME1L Degradation

Figure 6 Illustration showing the reciprocal regulation of OMA1 and YME1L induced by distinct types of cellular insults. Acute insults that depolarize mitochondria activate OMA1 protease activity, which is then repressed through a mechanism involving ATP-dependent degradation by the protease YME1L. In response to insults that depolarize mitochondria and deplete cellular ATP (e.g., oxidative stress), YME1L is degraded, suppressing protease activity through a mechanism involving activated OMA1.

activity and the ATP-dependent activity of the inner membrane protease YME1L. The dependence on the activities of these two proteases appears to result from a two-step mechanism involving autocatalytic processing of OMA1 required for protease activation followed by ATP-dependent degradation of the active OMA1 protease by YME1L (Rainbolt et al., 2016). Through this mechanism, OMA1 activity is suppressed after an acute insult allowing effective recovery of mitochondrial morphology.

Interestingly, the inner membrane protease YME1L is also susceptible to stress-induced degradation (Rainbolt et al., 2015, 2016). Oxidative insults that reduce cellular ATP and depolarize mitochondria increase degradation of YME1L through a mechanism involving the activity of the inner membrane protease OMA1 (Fig. 6). This degradation of YME1L prevents many protective YME1L functions, including Tim17 A degradation and suppression of OMA1 proteolytic activity, increasing cellular sensitivity to apoptotic stimuli (Rainbolt et al., 2015, 2016). Degradation of YME1L also defines a reciprocal relationship between the regulation of YME1L and OMA1 proteolytic activity during stresses that induce mitochondrial damage in the presence or absence of metabolic crisis (Rainbolt et al., 2016). Mitochondrial depolarization in the absence of metabolic crisis will lead to transient activation of the OMA1 protease, which is then suppressed

through ATP-dependent degradation by YME1L. However, mitochondrial depolarization in the presence of a metabolic crisis that reduces cellular ATP will stabilize active OMA1 and lead to YME1L degradation. A consequence of this regulation is the inability to recover from a mitochondrial-fragmented state. Thus, the reciprocal regulation between YME1L and OMA1 indicates that the sensitive regulation of these proteases provides a unique opportunity to dictate mitochondrial morphology in response to different types and extents of cellular stress.

Apart from degradation, proteases are also susceptible to regulation through posttranslational modifications. While few examples are known, there are some cases where protease stability and/or activity have been reported to be regulated through posttranslational modification. Phosphorylation of the inner membrane protease AFG3L2 at tyrosine 179 suppresses processing of paraplegin during coassembly of the AFG3L2/ paraplegin m-AAA heterooligomeric complex (Almontashiri et al., 2014). Following assembly, AFG3L2 is dephosphorylated allowing mature paraplegin to be proteolytically processed by AFG3L2. Similarly, LON acetylation by sirtuin-3 has been proposed to regulate the stability and activity of this protease (Gibellini et al., 2014). Posttranslational modifications of substrates can also influence their susceptibility to proteolysis. For example, phosphorylation of the TFAM impairs binding to DNA and promotes degradation by the quality control protease LON. Similarly, phosphorylation of cytochrome c oxidase subunits I, IVi1, and Vb increase targeting to LON for degradation upon hypoxic/ischemic insult (Lu et al., 2013; Sepuri et al., 2017).

The capacity to sensitively influence mitochondrial proteolytic activity through diverse posttranslational mechanisms provides additional levels for the stress-responsive regulation of mitochondrial proteostasis and function. While the mechanisms by which these posttranslational modifications integrate with transcriptional aspects of protease regulation remain to be established, it is clear that the regulation of these proteases is a central mechanism by which cells adapt mitochondrial function to match the specific demands required by a given insult.

1.5 Altered Mitochondrial Protease Activity in Aging and Disease

As outlined above, the diverse mechanisms of mitochondrial protease regulation provide a platform that allows cells to adapt mitochondrial function in response to diverse cellular insults. Imbalances in this regulation induced by protease mutations, alterations in stress-responsive signaling pathways, or aging predispose individuals to mitochondrial dysfunction in etiologically diverse human disorders, including cancer, cardiovascular disease, and neurodegenerative disorders (Quiros et al., 2015; Rugarli and Langer, 2012). Below, we describe how alterations in mitochondrial protease activity could influence pathologic mitochondrial dysfunction in these types of disorders.

1.5.1 Mutations in Mitochondrial Proteases Are Genetically Linked to Diverse Neurodegenerative Disorders

Mutations in mitochondrial quality control proteases have been causatively associated with the onset and pathology of numerous neurological disorders (Quiros et al., 2015; Rugarli and Langer, 2012). Most notably, mutations in the two m-AAA protease subunits AFG3L2 and paraplegin are implicated in different neurodegenerative diseases that present with varying levels of severity. Heterozygous mutations in AFG3L2 cause spinocerebellar ataxia type 28 (Di Bella et al., 2010), while homozygous mutations in the same gene cause different neurological syndromes with onset in early infancy (Eskandrani et al., 2017; Muona et al., 2015; Pierson et al., 2011). Alternatively, SPG7 mutations cause hereditary spastic paraplegia type 7 (Brugman et al., 2008; Casari et al., 1998; Elleuch et al., 2006). While the specific mechanism(s) by which these mutations influence disease pathogenesis remain to be fully elucidated, mouse models deficient in these two *m*-AAA subunits have provided significant insights into disease etiology associated with proteolytic dysregulation. Mice lacking either Afg312 or Spg7 show neurologic defects, including disrupted mitochondrial morphology, impaired Ca²⁺ buffering, axon degeneration, and impaired axon development (Almajan et al., 2012; Ferreirinha et al., 2004; Kondadi et al., 2014; Maltecca et al., 2008, 2009, 2015)-all phenotypes also observed in patients. Loss of AFG3L2 has also been shown to impair mitochondrial axonal transport and is associated with tau hyperphosphorylation (Kondadi et al., 2014), the latter of which can promote proteotoxic tau aggregation and neurodegeneration. These results highlight the importance of the *m*-AAA protease in neuronal mitochondrial function and indicate that genetic mutations that disrupt m-AAA proteolytic activity cause pathologic mitochondrial dysfunction thereby impairing diverse neurologic functions.

Mutations in other mitochondrial quality control proteases have also been implicated in neurodegenerative disease. Mutations in the IMS quality

control protease HTRA2 are associated with Parkinson's disease (PD) (Bogaerts et al., 2008; Lin et al., 2011; Strauss et al., 2005); however, the strength of this association remains to be fully established (Kruger et al., 2011; Spataro et al., 2015). Regardless, a potential role for HTRA2 in PD is supported by in vivo evidence showing that HTRA2-deficient mice and mice expressing a mutant HTRA2 present parkinsonian phenotypes (Jones et al., 2003; Kruger et al., 2011; Martins et al., 2004). Furthermore, HTRA2 mutations have been suggested to impair the autophagic degradation of α -synuclein aggregates, providing a potential mechanism to explain how mutations in this gene could induce the neuromuscular phenotypes associated with PD (Li et al., 2010). HTRA2 mutations have also been suggested to influence other neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's disease (Westerlund et al., 2011) and infantile neurodegeneration (Mandel et al., 2016), although the molecular underpinnings of these relationships have not been elucidated. Rare PARL mutations have also been suggested to influence PD (Heinitz et al., 2011; Shi et al., 2011; Wust et al., 2015). A potential role for PARL in PD could reflect the involvement of this protease in regulating the PINK1-Parkin mitophagy axis (Greene et al., 2012; Jin et al., 2010; Meissner et al., 2015; Yamano and Youle, 2013), which would be consistent with the link between PD and other proteins involved in this pathway (Youle and Narendra, 2011). YME1L1 mutations have also been found to be causatively associated with mitochondriopathy in familial optic atrophy (Hartmann et al., 2016). Here, mutations in the YME1L1 mitochondrial-targeting sequence affect MPP-dependent maturation of the protease, decreasing YME1L proteolytic activity and disrupting mitochondrial morphology and function.

Apart from mitochondrial quality control proteases, mutations in MPPs are also associated with neuronal disease. *IMMPL2* mutations are linked to many diseases, including autism, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder, and Tourette syndrome (Elia et al., 2010; Maestrini et al., 2010; Petek et al., 2001, 2007). Furthermore, *Immpl2* mutant mice show increased levels of oxidative stress, providing a potential mechanism to explain neuronal phenotypes associated with alterations in this protein (George et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2016). Altered activity of the peptidase PreP has also been suggested to influence neurodegeneration in AD. PreP degrades the amyloidogenic peptide amyloid β in mitochondria (Falkevall et al., 2006; Mossmann et al., 2014). Thus, mutations that alter the activity of this protease could impair its function and promote mitochondrial

dysfunction in association with AD (Alikhani et al., 2011b; Brunetti et al., 2016; Fang et al., 2015).

Apart from neuronal disorders, mutations in mitochondrial proteases also influence mitochondrial function in association with other types of diseases. LON mutations that disrupt the oligomerization and/or activity of this quality control protease lead to impaired mitochondrial proteostasis and function in association with cerebral, ocular, dental, auricular, and skeletal (CODAS) syndrome (Strauss et al., 2015). CLPP mutations are implicated in Perrault disease, which involve ovarian failure and sensorineural hearing loss (Ahmed et al., 2015; Jenkinson et al., 2013). Interestingly, mice deficient in Clpp recapitulate many Perrault-associated phenotypes, suggesting that alteration in CLPP-dependent regulation of mitochondrial proteostasis is causative in this disease (Gispert et al., 2013). Finally, XPNPEP3 mutations are associated with the autosomal recessive kidney disease nephronophthisis, likely resulting from a mechanism involving impaired ciliary function (O'Toole et al., 2010). The genetic links between mitochondrial proteases and human disease described above clearly highlights the central importance of these proteases for regulating mitochondrial function.

Mutations in the stress-responsive signaling pathways responsible for regulating mitochondrial proteolytic activity and proteostasis could also directly contribute to pathologic mitochondrial dysfunction in association with disease. For example, mutations in the ISR-associated kinase PERK have been implicated in the onset and pathogenesis of diseases including Wolcott-Rallison Syndrome (Delepine et al., 2000; Durocher et al., 2006; Julier and Nicolino, 2010). Interestingly, the pathogenesis of these diseases has been observed to include impaired mitochondrial morphology and function (Collardeau-Frachon et al., 2015; Engelmann et al., 2008; Sovik et al., 2008). While PERK has many functions involved in the global regulation of cellular proteostasis and physiology during ER stress, it is possible that impaired PERK-dependent regulation of mitochondrial proteostasis directly contributes to mitochondrial dysfunction in association with this disease. As we continue to learn more of the integrative mechanisms by which stress-responsive signaling pathways such as the ISR and UPR^{mt} regulate mitochondrial proteostasis, similar types of relationships can be established to demonstrate how genetic perturbations of these pathways can influence mitochondrial function by impairing stress-responsive regulation of proteostasis.

1.5.2 Aging Dependent Alterations in Mitochondrial Proteolytic Capacity

Imbalances in mitochondrial proteostasis and function are a pathologic hallmark of the aging process in various organisms and in diverse tissues (Lopez-Otin et al., 2013). Mitochondrial proteases and their regulation are centrally implicated in the decline of mitochondrial function associated with the aging process (Quiros et al., 2015). Notably, the stress-responsive protease LON is intricately linked with organismal aging. Aging reduces the protein levels and activity of the LON protease in tissues including skeletal muscles and liver (Bakala et al., 2003; Bota et al., 2002; Lee et al., 1999). Similarly, while LON protein levels increase in the aging heart (likely reflecting stress-responsive regulation of this protease), LON activity does not increase, indicating that the specific activity of LON decreases with age in this tissue (Delaval et al., 2004). The importance of LON in aging is evident from studies in model organisms. Overexpression of LON in P. anserina increases organismal lifespan (Luce and Osiewacz, 2009). Alternatively, deletion of the S. cerevisiae Lon homolog, Pim1, accelerates aging in yeast (Erjavec et al., 2013). These results implicate LON activity as being an important determinant in eukaryotic aging.

Other mitochondrial proteases are also implicated in aging. For example, genetic depletion of *CLPP* increases *P. anserina* strain lifespan, indicating that overactivity of this protease could contribute to age-dependent loss of mitochondrial function in this organism (Fischer et al., 2013). Similarly, *HTRA2* depletion in mice induces mtDNA loss in systemic tissues, accelerating the aging process (Kang et al., 2013). *YME1L* depletion has also been shown to induce premature aging in flies (Qi et al., 2016). Furthermore, SNPs in the *m*-AAA protease subunit *AFG3L2* are linked to improved cognitive function in elderly humans (Lopez et al., 2012). Collectively, these results indicate that mitochondrial function is tightly regulated by the balanced activity of mitochondrial proteases and that aging-related alterations in this balance can perturb mitochondrial proteostasis and promote organismal aging.

The regulation of mitochondrial proteases through stress-responsive signaling pathways can also influence mitochondrial proteostasis capacity during organismal aging. Stress-responsive signaling pathways such as the ISR and UPR^{mt} are intricately related to the aging process (Schulz and Haynes, 2015; Shpilka and Haynes, 2018). Furthermore, the activity and/ or regulation of stress-responsive signaling pathways is altered during aging, which challenges the ability for old organisms to efficiently regulate

mitochondrial proteostasis and function in response to acute stress (Martinez et al., 2017; Naidoo, 2009; Rainbolt et al., 2014). Thus, apart from direct alterations in protease activity, the impaired ability to regulate mitochondrial proteostasis through stress-responsive signaling can also contribute to the mitochondrial dysfunction implicated in organismal aging.

1.5.3 Indirect Consequences of Altered Mitochondrial Proteolytic Activity on Mitochondrial Proteostasis and Function

Alterations in the activity or regulation of proteases are predicted to influence mitochondrial function through the altered capacity for these proteases to perform specific mitochondrial functions (e.g., LON-dependent degradation of oxidatively damaged proteins). However, alterations in these proteases could also influence mitochondrial function through imbalances in the capacity for mitochondria to sensitively regulate proteostasis. For example, LON and CLPP are reported to be overexpressed in multiple types of cancer and mice lacking a single copy of Lon show reduced malignant progression in melanoma and colorectal cancer models (Quiros et al., 2014; Seo et al., 2016). These results indicate that increased activity of mitochondrial proteases can support the malignant state. Alternatively, the reduced activity of a specific protease could lead to adaptation of the entire proteolytic network through stress-responsive signaling mechanisms that could lead to dysregulation of mitochondrial function. For example, spastic paraplegia patients harboring mutations in the mitochondrial chaperone HSP60 show lower levels of LON and CLPP, suggesting that these cells may have lowered activity of these two proteases to compensate for impaired chaperoning activity (Hansen et al., 2008). The reduction in the activity of these proteases could reduce their ability to regulate specific mitochondrial functions and/or increase cellular sensitivity to subsequent insults. Furthermore, alterations in YME1L and OMA1 proteolytic activity are implicated in neonatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury, indicating that stress-dependent changes in the activities of these proteases are implicated in this disorder (Baburamani et al., 2015). It is important to consider to these types of indirect alterations in protease activity on global mitochondrial proteostasis, as it could reveal compensatory mechanisms involved in the regulation of mitochondrial proteostasis that could contribute to disease pathogenesis and potentially be accessed to develop new therapeutic approaches to ameliorate pathologic mitochondrial dysfunction. While it is currently difficult to define how this type of imbalance can influence mitochondria, the importance of this type of mechanism will become more apparent as we learn more of the intricate relationship between mitochondrial protease regulation and function.

2. CONCLUDING COMMENTS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Mitochondrial proteases are critical regulators of mitochondrial proteostasis. It is clear from the results discussed throughout this review that the activity and regulation of these proteases are central in adapting mitochondrial function to various types of environmental, pathologic, or aging-related insults. This suggests that imbalances in the activity of these proteases and the pathways involved in their regulation represent a constellation of mechanisms that can contribute to pathologic mitochondrial dysfunction implicated in diverse disease states. Furthermore, the results discussed above indicate that influencing mitochondrial proteases through either direct targeting of the protease or intervention in stress-responsive signaling pathways represent new potential therapeutic opportunities to correct imbalances in mitochondrial proteostasis associated with disease. As we continue to learn more about mitochondrial proteases and their regulation in the context of disease, we anticipate that new roles for these proteases will be revealed and new strategies focused on manipulating proteolytic activity will be established to intervene in diverse classes of human disease.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We apologize to all of our colleagues whose work we were unable to discuss in this review. We thank Aparajita Madhavan, Cristina Puchades, Mia Shin, and Vivian Moraes for critical reading of the manuscript. We thank NIH NS095892 (RLW) and the Hewitt Foundation (JL) for funding.

REFERENCES

- Ahmed, S., Jelani, M., Alrayes, N., Mohamoud, H.S., Almramhi, M.M., Anshasi, W., Ahmed, N.A., Wang, J., Nasir, J., Al-Aama, J.Y., 2015. Exome analysis identified a novel missense mutation in the CLPP gene in a consanguineous Saudi family expanding the clinical spectrum of Perrault Syndrome type-3. J. Neurol. Sci. 353, 149–154.
- Aldridge, J.E., Horibe, T., Hoogenraad, N.J., 2007. Discovery of genes activated by the mitochondrial unfolded protein response (mtUPR) and cognate promoter elements. PLoS One 2, e874.
- Alikhani, N., Berglund, A.K., Engmann, T., Spanning, E., Vogtle, F.N., Pavlov, P., Meisinger, C., Langer, T., Glaser, E., 2011a. Targeting capacity and conservation of PreP homologues localization in mitochondria of different species. J. Mol. Biol. 410, 400-410.

Stress-Responsive Regulation of Mitochondrial Proteases

- Alikhani, N., Guo, L., Yan, S., Du, H., Pinho, C.M., Chen, J.X., Glaser, E., Yan, S.S., 2011b. Decreased proteolytic activity of the mitochondrial amyloid-beta degrading enzyme, PreP peptidasome, in Alzheimer's disease brain mitochondria. J. Alzheimers Dis. 27, 75–87.
- Almajan, E.R., Richter, R., Paeger, L., Martinelli, P., Barth, E., Decker, T., Larsson, N.G., Kloppenburg, P., Langer, T., Rugarli, E.I., 2012. AFG3L2 supports mitochondrial protein synthesis and Purkinje cell survival. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 4048–4058.
- Almontashiri, N.A., Chen, H.H., Mailloux, R.J., Tatsuta, T., Teng, A.C., Mahmoud, A.B., Ho, T., Stewart, N.A., Rippstein, P., Harper, M.E., et al., 2014. SPG7 variant escapes phosphorylation-regulated processing by AFG3L2, elevates mitochondrial ROS, and is associated with multiple clinical phenotypes. Cell Rep. 7, 834–847.
- Anand, R., Wai, T., Baker, M.J., Kladt, N., Schauss, A.C., Rugarli, E., Langer, T., 2014. The i-AAA protease YME1L and OMA1 cleave OPA1 to balance mitochondrial fusion and fission. Journal Biol. 204, 919–929.
- Arnold, I., Wagner-Ecker, M., Ansorge, W., Langer, T., 2006. Evidence for a novel mitochondria-to-nucleus signalling pathway in respiring cells lacking i-AAA protease and the ABC-transporter Mdl1. Gene 367, 74–88.
- Baburamani, A.A., Hurling, C., Stolp, H., Sobotka, K., Gressens, P., Hagberg, H., Thornton, C., 2015. Mitochondrial optic atrophy (OPA) 1 processing is altered in response to neonatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 16, 22509–22526.
- Bahat, A., Perlberg, S., Melamed-Book, N., Isaac, S., Eden, A., Lauria, I., Langer, T., Orly, J., 2015. Transcriptional activation of LON Gene by a new form of mitochondrial stress: a role for the nuclear respiratory factor 2 in StAR overload response (SOR). Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 408, 62–72.
- Bahat, A., Perlberg, S., Melamed-Book, N., Lauria, I., Langer, T., Orly, J., 2014. StAR enhances transcription of genes encoding the mitochondrial proteases involved in its own degradation. Mol. Endocrinol. 28, 208–224.
- Bakala, H., Delaval, E., Hamelin, M., Bismuth, J., Borot-Laloi, C., Corman, B., Friguet, B., 2003. Changes in rat liver mitochondria with aging. Lon protease-like reactivity and N(epsilon)-carboxymethyllysine accumulation in the matrix. Eur. J. Biochem./FEBS 270, 2295–2302.
- Baker, B.M., Nargund, A.M., Sun, T., Haynes, C.M., 2012a. Protective coupling of mitochondrial function and protein synthesis via the eIF2alpha kinase GCN-2. PLoS Genetics 8, e1002760.
- Baker, M.J., Lampe, P.A., Stojanovski, D., Korwitz, A., Anand, R., Tatsuta, T., Langer, T., 2014. Stress-induced OMA1 activation and autocatalytic turnover regulate OPA1dependent mitochondrial dynamics. EMBO J. 33, 578–593.
- Baker, M.J., Mooga, V.P., Guiard, B., Langer, T., Ryan, M.T., Stojanovski, D., 2012b. Impaired folding of the mitochondrial small TIM chaperones induces clearance by the i-AAA protease. J. Mol. Biol. 424, 227–239.
- Baker, M.J., Tatsuta, T., Langer, T., 2011. Quality control of mitochondrial proteostasis. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3.
- Bender, T., Lewrenz, I., Franken, S., Baitzel, C., Voos, W., 2011. Mitochondrial enzymes are protected from stress-induced aggregation by mitochondrial chaperones and the Pim1/LON protease. Mol. Biol. Cell 22, 541–554.
- Benedetti, C., Haynes, C.M., Yang, Y., Harding, H.P., Ron, D., 2006. Ubiquitin-like protein 5 positively regulates chaperone gene expression in the mitochondrial unfolded protein response. Genetics 174, 229–239.
- Bogaerts, V., Nuytemans, K., Reumers, J., Pals, P., Engelborghs, S., Pickut, B., Corsmit, E., Peeters, K., Schymkowitz, J., De Deyn, P.P., et al., 2008. Genetic variability in the mitochondrial serine protease HTRA2 contributes to risk for Parkinson disease. Hum. Mutat. 29, 832–840.

- Bota, D.A., Davies, K.J., 2002. Lon protease preferentially degrades oxidized mitochondrial aconitase by an ATP-stimulated mechanism. Nat. Cell Biol. 4, 674–680.
- Bota, D.A., Davies, K.J., 2016. Mitochondrial Lon protease in human disease and aging: including an etiologic classification of Lon-related diseases and disorders. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 100, 188–198.
- Bota, D.A., Van Remmen, H., Davies, K.J., 2002. Modulation of Lon protease activity and aconitase turnover during aging and oxidative stress. FEBS Letters 532, 103–106.
- Brugman, F., Scheffer, H., Wokke, J.H., Nillesen, W.M., de Visser, M., Aronica, E., Veldink, J.H., van den Berg, L.H., 2008. Paraplegin mutations in sporadic adult-onset upper motor neuron syndromes. Neurology 71, 1500–1505.
- Brunetti, D., Torsvik, J., Dallabona, C., Teixeira, P., Sztromwasser, P., Fernandez-Vizarra, E., Cerutti, R., Reyes, A., Preziuso, C., D'Amati, G., et al., 2015. Defective PITRM1 mitochondrial peptidase is associated with Abeta amyloidotic neurodegeneration. EMBO Molecular Medicine.
- Brunetti, D., Torsvik, J., Dallabona, C., Teixeira, P., Sztromwasser, P., Fernandez-Vizarra, E., Cerutti, R., Reyes, A., Preziuso, C., D'Amati, G., et al., 2016. Defective PITRM1 mitochondrial peptidase is associated with Abeta amyloidotic neurodegeneration. EMBO Molecular Medicine 8, 176–190.
- Casari, G., De Fusco, M., Ciarmatori, S., Zeviani, M., Mora, M., Fernandez, P., De Michele, G., Filla, A., Cocozza, S., Marconi, R., et al., 1998. Spastic paraplegia and OXPHOS impairment caused by mutations in paraplegin, a nuclear-encoded mitochondrial metalloprotease. Cell 93, 973–983.
- Chacinska, A., Koehler, C.M., Milenkovic, D., Lithgow, T., Pfanner, N., 2009. Importing mitochondrial proteins: machineries and mechanisms. Cell 138, 628–644.
- Chan, D.C., 2012. Fusion and fission: interlinked processes critical for mitochondrial health. Annu. Rev. Genet. 46, 265–287.
- Chan, N.C., Salazar, A.M., Pham, A.H., Sweredoski, M.J., Kolawa, N.J., Graham, R.L., Hess, S., Chan, D.C., 2011. Broad activation of the ubiquitin-proteasome system by Parkin is critical for mitophagy. Hum. Mol. Genet. 20, 1726–1737.
- Chao, J.R., Parganas, E., Boyd, K., Hong, C.Y., Opferman, J.T., Ihle, J.N., 2008. Hax1-mediated processing of HtrA2 by Parl allows survival of lymphocytes and neurons. Nature 452, 98–102.
- Chow, K.M., Gakh, O., Payne, I.C., Juliano, M.A., Juliano, L., Isaya, G., Hersh, L.B., 2009. Mammalian pitrilysin: substrate specificity and mitochondrial targeting. Biochemistry 48, 2868–2877.
- Cilenti, L., Ambivero, C.T., Ward, N., Alnemri, E.S., Germain, D., Zervos, A.S., 2014. Inactivation of Omi/HtrA2 protease leads to the deregulation of mitochondrial Mulan E3 ubiquitin ligase and increased mitophagy. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1843, 1295–1307.
- Cipolat, S., Rudka, T., Hartmann, D., Costa, V., Serneels, L., Craessaerts, K., Metzger, K., Frezza, C., Annaert, W., D'Adamio, L., et al., 2006. Mitochondrial rhomboid PARL regulates cytochrome c release during apoptosis via OPA1-dependent cristae remodeling. Cell 126, 163–175.
- Clausen, T., Kaiser, M., Huber, R., Ehrmann, M., 2011. HTRA proteases: regulated proteolysis in protein quality control. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 12, 152–162.
- Collardeau-Frachon, S., Vasiljevic, A., Jouvet, A., Bouvier, R., Senee, V., Nicolino, M., 2015. Microscopic and ultrastructural features in Wolcott-Rallison syndrome, a permanent neonatal diabetes mellitus: about two autopsy cases. Pediatr. Diabetes 16, 510–520.
- Covill-Cooke, C., Howden, J.H., Birsa, N., Kittler, J.T., 2017. Ubiquitination at the mitochondria in neuronal health and disease. Neurochem. Int.

- Cullinan, S.B., Zhang, D., Hannink, M., Arvisais, E., Kaufman, R.J., Diehl, J.A., 2003. Nrf2 is a direct PERK substrate and effector of PERK-dependent cell survival. Mol. Cell. Biol. 23, 7198–7209.
- Cunningham, C.N., Baughman, J.M., Phu, L., Tea, J.S., Yu, C., Coons, M., Kirkpatrick, D.S., Bingol, B., Corn, J.E., 2015. USP30 and parkin homeostatically regulate atypical ubiquitin chains on mitochondria. Nat. Cell Biol. 17, 160–169.
- Deepa, S.S., Bhaskaran, S., Ranjit, R., Qaisar, R., Nair, B.C., Liu, Y., Walsh, M.E., Fok, W.C., Van Remmen, H., 2015. Down-regulation of the mitochondrial matrix peptidase ClpP in muscle cells causes mitochondrial dysfunction and decreases cell proliferation. Free Radic. Biol. Med.
- Delaval, E., Perichon, M., Friguet, B., 2004. Age-related impairment of mitochondrial matrix aconitase and ATP-stimulated protease in rat liver and heart. Eur. J. Biochem./FEBS 271, 4559–4564.
- Delepine, M., Nicolino, M., Barrett, T., Golamaully, M., Lathrop, G.M., Julier, C., 2000. EIF2AK3, encoding translation initiation factor 2-alpha kinase 3, is mutated in patients with Wolcott-Rallison syndrome. Nat. Genet. 25, 406–409.
- Di Bella, D., Lazzaro, F., Brusco, A., Plumari, M., Battaglia, G., Pastore, A., Finardi, A., Cagnoli, C., Tempia, F., Frontali, M., et al., 2010. Mutations in the mitochondrial protease gene AFG3L2 cause dominant hereditary ataxia SCA28. Nat. Genet. 42, 313–321.
- Durieux, J., Wolff, S., Dillin, A., 2011. The cell-non-autonomous nature of electron transport chain-mediated longevity. Cell 144, 79–91.
- Durocher, F., Faure, R., Labrie, Y., Pelletier, L., Bouchard, I., Laframboise, R., 2006. A novel mutation in the EIF2AK3 gene with variable expressivity in two patients with Wolcott-Rallison syndrome. Clin. Genet. 70, 34–38.
- Elia, J., Gai, X., Xie, H.M., Perin, J.C., Geiger, E., Glessner, J.T., D'Arcy, M., deBerardinis, R., Frackelton, E., Kim, C., et al., 2010. Rare structural variants found in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder are preferentially associated with neurodevelopmental genes. Mol. Psychiatr. 15, 637–646.
- Elleuch, N., Depienne, C., Benomar, A., Hernandez, A.M., Ferrer, X., Fontaine, B., Grid, D., Tallaksen, C.M., Zemmouri, R., Stevanin, G., et al., 2006. Mutation analysis of the paraplegin gene (SPG7) in patients with hereditary spastic paraplegia. Neurology 66, 654–659.
- Engelmann, G., Meyburg, J., Shahbek, N., Al-Ali, M., Hairetis, M.H., Baker, A.J., Rodenburg, R.J., Wenning, D., Flechtenmacher, C., Ellard, S., et al., 2008. Recurrent acute liver failure and mitochondriopathy in a case of Wolcott-Rallison syndrome. J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 31, 540–546.
- Erjavec, N., Bayot, A., Gareil, M., Camougrand, N., Nystrom, T., Friguet, B., Bulteau, A.L., 2013. Deletion of the mitochondrial Pim1/Lon protease in yeast results in accelerated aging and impairment of the proteasome. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 56, 9–16.
- Eskandrani, A., AlHashem, A., Ali, E.S., AlShahwan, S., Tlili, K., Hundallah, K., Tabarki, B., 2017. Recessive AFG3L2 mutation causes progressive microcephaly, early onset seizures, spasticity, and basal ganglia involvement. Pediatr. Neurol. 71, 24–28.
- Falkevall, A., Alikhani, N., Bhushan, S., Pavlov, P.F., Busch, K., Johnson, K.A., Eneqvist, T., Tjernberg, L., Ankarcrona, M., Glaser, E., 2006. Degradation of the amyloid beta-protein by the novel mitochondrial peptidasome, PreP. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 29096–29104.
- Fang, D., Wang, Y., Zhang, Z., Du, H., Yan, S., Sun, Q., Zhong, C., Wu, L., Vangavaragu, J.R., Yan, S., et al., 2015. Increased neuronal PreP activity reduces Abeta accumulation, attenuates neuroinflammation and improves mitochondrial and synaptic function in Alzheimer disease's mouse model. Hum. Mol. Genet. 24, 5198–5210.

- Ferreirinha, F., Quattrini, A., Pirozzi, M., Valsecchi, V., Dina, G., Broccoli, V., Auricchio, A., Piemonte, F., Tozzi, G., Gaeta, L., et al., 2004. Axonal degeneration in paraplegin-deficient mice is associated with abnormal mitochondria and impairment of axonal transport. J. Clin. Invest. 113, 231–242.
- Fiorese, C.J., Schulz, A.M., Lin, Y.F., Rosin, N., Pellegrino, M.W., Haynes, C.M., 2016. The transcription factor ATF5 mediates a mammalian mitochondrial UPR. Curr. Biol. 26, 2037–2043.
- Fischer, F., Weil, A., Hamann, A., Osiewacz, H.D., 2013. Human CLPP reverts the longevity phenotype of a fungal ClpP deletion strain. Nat. Commun. 4, 1397.
- Frezza, C., Cipolat, S., Martins de Brito, O., Micaroni, M., Beznoussenko, G.V., Rudka, T., Bartoli, D., Polishuck, R.S., Danial, N.N., De Strooper, B., et al., 2006. OPA1 controls apoptotic cristae remodeling independently from mitochondrial fusion. Cell 126, 177–189.
- Fukuda, R., Zhang, H., Kim, J.W., Shimoda, L., Dang, C.V., Semenza, G.L., 2007. HIF-1 regulates cytochrome oxidase subunits to optimize efficiency of respiration in hypoxic cells. Cell 129, 111–122.
- Fusakio, M.E., Willy, J.A., Wang, Y., Mirek, E.T., Al Baghdadi, R.J., Adams, C.M., Anthony, T.G., Wek, R.C., 2016. Transcription factor ATF4 directs basal and stressinduced gene expression in the unfolded protein response and cholesterol metabolism in the liver. Mol. Biol. Cell 27, 1536–1551.
- Gakh, O., Cavadini, P., Isaya, G., 2002. Mitochondrial processing peptidases. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1592, 63–77.
- George, S.K., Jiao, Y., Bishop, C.E., Lu, B., 2011. Mitochondrial peptidase IMMP2L mutation causes early onset of age-associated disorders and impairs adult stem cell selfrenewal. Aging Cell 10, 584–594.
- Gibellini, L., Pinti, M., Beretti, F., Pierri, C.L., Onofrio, A., Riccio, M., Carnevale, G., De Biasi, S., Nasi, M., Torelli, F., et al., 2014. Sirtuin 3 interacts with Lon protease and regulates its acetylation status. Mitochondrion 18, 76–81.
- Gillies, L.A., Kuwana, T., 2014. Apoptosis regulation at the mitochondrial outer membrane. J. Cell. Biochem. 115, 632–640.
- Gispert, S., Parganlija, D., Klinkenberg, M., Drose, S., Wittig, I., Mittelbronn, M., Grzmil, P., Koob, S., Hamann, A., Walter, M., et al., 2013. Loss of mitochondrial peptidase Clpp leads to infertility, hearing loss plus growth retardation via accumulation of CLPX, mtDNA and inflammatory factors. Hum. Mol. Genet. 22, 4871–4887.
- Granot, Z., Kobiler, O., Melamed-Book, N., Eimerl, S., Bahat, A., Lu, B., Braun, S., Maurizi, M.R., Suzuki, C.K., Oppenheim, A.B., et al., 2007. Turnover of mitochondrial steroidogenic acute regulatory (StAR) protein by Lon protease: the unexpected effect of proteasome inhibitors. Mol. Endocrinol. 21, 2164–2177.
- Greene, A.W., Grenier, K., Aguileta, M.A., Muise, S., Farazifard, R., Haque, M.E., McBride, H.M., Park, D.S., Fon, E.A., 2012. Mitochondrial processing peptidase regulates PINK1 processing, import and Parkin recruitment. EMBO Rep. 13, 378–385.
- Griparic, L., Kanazawa, T., van der Bliek, A.M., 2007. Regulation of the mitochondrial dynamin-like protein Opa1 by proteolytic cleavage. J. Cell Biol. 178, 757–764.
- Hamacher-Brady, A., Brady, N.R., 2016. Mitophagy programs: mechanisms and physiological implications of mitochondrial targeting by autophagy. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 73, 775–795.
- Han, J., Back, S.H., Hur, J., Lin, Y.H., Gildersleeve, R., Shan, J., Yuan, C.L., Krokowski, D., Wang, S., Hatzoglou, M., et al., 2013. ER-stress-induced transcriptional regulation increases protein synthesis leading to cell death. Nat. Cell Biol. 15, 481–490.

- Hansen, J., Corydon, T.J., Palmfeldt, J., Durr, A., Fontaine, B., Nielsen, M.N., Christensen, J.H., Gregersen, N., Bross, P., 2008. Decreased expression of the mitochondrial matrix proteases Lon and ClpP in cells from a patient with hereditary spastic paraplegia (SPG13). Neuroscience 153, 474–482.
- Harbauer, A.B., Zahedi, R.P., Sickmann, A., Pfanner, N., Meisinger, C., 2014. The protein import machinery of mitochondria-a regulatory hub in metabolism, stress, and disease. Cell Metab. 19, 357–372.
- Harding, H.P., Novoa, I., Zhang, Y., Zeng, H., Wek, R., Schapira, M., Ron, D., 2000. Regulated translation initiation controls stress-induced gene expression in mammalian cells. Mol. cell 6, 1099–1108.
- Harding, H.P., Zhang, Y., Zeng, H., Novoa, I., Lu, P.D., Calfon, M., Sadri, N., Yun, C., Popko, B., Paules, R., et al., 2003. An integrated stress response regulates amino acid metabolism and resistance to oxidative stress. Mol. cell 11, 619–633.
- Harper, J.W., Ordureau, A., Heo, J.M., 2018. Building and decoding ubiquitin chains for mitophagy. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 19, 93–108.
- Hartmann, B., Wai, T., Hu, H., MacVicar, T., Musante, L., Fischer-Zirnsak, B., Stenzel, W., Graf, R., van den Heuvel, L., Ropers, H.H., et al., 2016. Homozygous YME1L1 mutation causes mitochondriopathy with optic atrophy and mitochondrial network fragmentation. Elife 5.
- Haynes, C.M., Petrova, K., Benedetti, C., Yang, Y., Ron, D., 2007. ClpP mediates activation of a mitochondrial unfolded protein response in *C. elegans*. Dev. Cell 13, 467–480.
- Haynes, C.M., Yang, Y., Blais, S.P., Neubert, T.A., Ron, D., 2010. The matrix peptide exporter HAF-1 signals a mitochondrial UPR by activating the transcription factor ZC376.7 in *C. elegans*. Mol. cell 37, 529–540.
- Head, B., Griparic, L., Amiri, M., Gandre-Babbe, S., van der Bliek, A.M., 2009. Inducible proteolytic inactivation of OPA1 mediated by the OMA1 protease in mammalian cells. J. Cell Biol. 187, 959–966.
- Hegde, R., Srinivasula, S.M., Zhang, Z., Wassell, R., Mukattash, R., Cilenti, L., DuBois, G., Lazebnik, Y., Zervos, A.S., Fernandes-Alnemri, T., et al., 2002. Identification of Omi/ HtrA2 as a mitochondrial apoptotic serine protease that disrupts inhibitor of apoptosis protein-caspase interaction. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 432–438.
- Heinitz, S., Klein, C., Djarmati, A., 2011. The p.S77N presenilin-associated rhomboid-like protein mutation is not a frequent cause of early-onset Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord.
 : Official Journal of the Movement Disorder Society 26, 2441–2442.
- Hetz, C., Papa, F.R., 2018. The unfolded protein response and cell fate control. Mol. Cell 69, 169–181.
- Hori, O., Ichinoda, F., Tamatani, T., Yamaguchi, A., Sato, N., Ozawa, K., Kitao, Y., Miyazaki, M., Harding, H.P., Ron, D., et al., 2002. Transmission of cell stress from endoplasmic reticulum to mitochondria: enhanced expression of Lon protease. J. Cell Biol. 157, 1151–1160.
- Horibe, T., Hoogenraad, N.J., 2007. The chop gene contains an element for the positive regulation of the mitochondrial unfolded protein response. PLoS One 2, e835.
- Houtkooper, R.H., Mouchiroud, L., Ryu, D., Moullan, N., Katsyuba, E., Knott, G., Williams, R.W., Auwerx, J., 2013. Mitonuclear protein imbalance as a conserved longevity mechanism. Nature 497, 451–457.
- Hu, X.V., Chen, X., Han, K.C., Mildvan, A.S., Liu, J.O., 2007. Kinetic and mutational studies of the number of interacting divalent cations required by bacterial and human methionine aminopeptidases. Biochemistry 46, 12833–12843.
- Ishihara, N., Fujita, Y., Oka, T., Mihara, K., 2006. Regulation of mitochondrial morphology through proteolytic cleavage of OPA1. EMBO J. 25, 2966–2977.

- Jenkinson, E.M., Rehman, A.U., Walsh, T., Clayton-Smith, J., Lee, K., Morell, R.J., Drummond, M.C., Khan, S.N., Naeem, M.A., Rauf, B., et al., 2013. Perrault syndrome is caused by recessive mutations in CLPP, encoding a mitochondrial ATP-dependent chambered protease. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 92, 605–613.
- Jin, S.M., Lazarou, M., Wang, C., Kane, L.A., Narendra, D.P., Youle, R.J., 2010. Mitochondrial membrane potential regulates PINK1 import and proteolytic destabilization by PARL. J. Cell Biol. 191, 933–942.
- Jones, J.M., Datta, P., Srinivasula, S.M., Ji, W., Gupta, S., Zhang, Z., Davies, E., Hajnoczky, G., Saunders, T.L., Van Keuren, M.L., et al., 2003. Loss of Omi mitochondrial protease activity causes the neuromuscular disorder of mnd2 mutant mice. Nature 425, 721–727.
- Julier, C., Nicolino, M., 2010. Wolcott-Rallison syndrome. Orphanet J. Rare Dis. 5, 29.
- Kang, S., Louboutin, J.P., Datta, P., Landel, C.P., Martinez, D., Zervos, A.S., Strayer, D.S., Fernandes-Alnemri, T., Alnemri, E.S., 2013. Loss of HtrA2/Omi activity in non-neuronal tissues of adult mice causes premature aging. Cell Death Differ 20, 259–269.
- Kao, T.Y., Chiu, Y.C., Fang, W.C., Cheng, C.W., Kuo, C.Y., Juan, H.F., Wu, S.H., Lee, A.Y., 2015. Mitochondrial Lon regulates apoptosis through the association with Hsp60-mtHsp70 complex. Cell Death Dis. 6, e1642.
- Karbowski, M., Neutzner, A., Youle, R.J., 2007. The mitochondrial E3 ubiquitin ligase MARCH5 is required for Drp1 dependent mitochondrial division. J. Cell Biol. 178, 71–84.
- Kardon, J.R., Yien, Y.Y., Huston, N.C., Branco, D.S., Hildick-Smith, G.J., Rhee, K.Y., Paw, B.H., Baker, T.A., 2015. Mitochondrial ClpX activates a key enzyme for heme biosynthesis and erythropoiesis. Cell 161, 858–867.
- Kaser, M., Kambacheld, M., Kisters-Woike, B., Langer, T., 2003. Oma1, a novel membrane-bound metallopeptidase in mitochondria with activities overlapping with the m-AAA protease. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 46414–46423.
- Kilberg, M.S., Balasubramanian, M., Fu, L., Shan, J., 2012. The transcription factor network associated with the amino acid response in mammalian cells. Adv. Nutr. 3, 295–306.
- Kleiber, J., Kalousek, F., Swaroop, M., Rosenberg, L.E., 1990. The general mitochondrial matrix processing protease from rat liver: structural characterization of the catalytic subunit. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 87, 7978–7982.
- Kondadi, A.K., Wang, S., Montagner, S., Kladt, N., Korwitz, A., Martinelli, P., Herholz, D., Baker, M.J., Schauss, A.C., Langer, T., et al., 2014. Loss of the m-AAA protease subunit AFG(3)L(2) causes mitochondrial transport defects and tau hyperphosphorylation. EMBO J. 33, 1011–1026.
- Konig, T., Troder, S.E., Bakka, K., Korwitz, A., Richter-Dennerlein, R., Lampe, P.A., Patron, M., Muhlmeister, M., Guerrero-Castillo, S., Brandt, U., et al., 2016. The m-AAA protease associated with neurodegeneration limits MCU activity in mitochondria. Mol. Cell 64, 148–162.
- Koppen, M., Metodiev, M.D., Casari, G., Rugarli, E.I., Langer, T., 2007. Variable and tissue-specific subunit composition of mitochondrial m-AAA protease complexes linked to hereditary spastic paraplegia. Mol. Cell. Biol. 27, 758–767.
- Koyano, F., Okatsu, K., Kosako, H., Tamura, Y., Go, E., Kimura, M., Kimura, Y., Tsuchiya, H., Yoshihara, H., Hirokawa, T., et al., 2014. Ubiquitin is phosphorylated by PINK1 to activate parkin. Nature 510, 162–166.
- Kruger, R., Sharma, M., Riess, O., Gasser, T., Van Broeckhoven, C., Theuns, J., Aasly, J., Annesi, G., Bentivoglio, A.R., Brice, A., et al., 2011. A large-scale genetic association study to evaluate the contribution of Omi/HtrA2 (PARK13) to Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol. Aging 32 (548), e518–e549.

- Lebeau, J., Saunders, J.M., Moraes, V.W.R., Madhavan, A., Madrazo, N., Anthony, M.C., Wiseman, R.L., 2018. The PERK arm of the unfolded protein response regulates mitochondrial morphology during acute endoplasmic reticulum stress. Cell Rep. 22, 2827–2836.
- Lee, C.K., Klopp, R.G., Weindruch, R., Prolla, T.A., 1999. Gene expression profile of aging and its retardation by caloric restriction. Science 285, 1390–1393.
- Li, B., Hu, Q., Wang, H., Man, N., Ren, H., Wen, L., Nukina, N., Fei, E., Wang, G., 2010. Omi/HtrA2 is a positive regulator of autophagy that facilitates the degradation of mutant proteins involved in neurodegenerative diseases. Cell Death Differ. 17, 1773–1784.
- Liang, J.R., Martinez, A., Lane, J.D., Mayor, U., Clague, M.J., Urbe, S., 2015. USP30 deubiquitylates mitochondrial Parkin substrates and restricts apoptotic cell death. EMBO Rep. 16, 618–627.
- Lin, C.H., Chen, M.L., Chen, G.S., Tai, C.H., Wu, R.M., 2011. Novel variant Pro143Ala in HTRA2 contributes to Parkinson's disease by inducing hyperphosphorylation of HTRA2 protein in mitochondria. Hum. Genet. 130, 817–827.
- Liu, C., Li, X., Lu, B., 2016. The Immp2l mutation causes age-dependent degeneration of cerebellar granule neurons prevented by antioxidant treatment. Aging Cell 15, 167–176.
- Liu, T., Lu, B., Lee, I., Ondrovicova, G., Kutejova, E., Suzuki, C.K., 2004. DNA and RNA binding by the mitochondrial lon protease is regulated by nucleotide and protein substrate. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 13902–13910.
- Lopez, L.M., Harris, S.E., Luciano, M., Liewald, D., Davies, G., Gow, A.J., Tenesa, A., Payton, A., Ke, X., Whalley, L.J., et al., 2012. Evolutionary conserved longevity genes and human cognitive abilities in elderly cohorts. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 20, 341–347.
- Lopez-Otin, C., Blasco, M.A., Partridge, L., Serrano, M., Kroemer, G., 2013. The hallmarks of aging. Cell 153, 1194–1217.
- Loson, O.C., Song, Z., Chen, H., Chan, D.C., 2013. Fis1, Mff, MiD49, and MiD51 mediate Drp1 recruitment in mitochondrial fission. Mol. Biol. Cell 24, 659–667.
- Lu, B., Lee, J., Nie, X., Li, M., Morozov, Y.I., Venkatesh, S., Bogenhagen, D.F., Temiakov, D., Suzuki, C.K., 2013. Phosphorylation of human TFAM in mitochondria impairs DNA binding and promotes degradation by the AAA+ Lon protease. Mol. Cell 49, 121–132.
- Lu, B., Yadav, S., Shah, P.G., Liu, T., Tian, B., Pukszta, S., Villaluna, N., Kutejova, E., Newlon, C.S., Santos, J.H., et al., 2007. Roles for the human ATP-dependent Lon protease in mitochondrial DNA maintenance. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 17363–17374.
- Luce, K., Osiewacz, H.D., 2009. Increasing organismal healthspan by enhancing mitochondrial protein quality control. Nat. Cell Biol. 11, 852–858.
- Ma, Y., Hendershot, L.M., 2003. Delineation of a negative feedback regulatory loop that controls protein translation during endoplasmic reticulum stress. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 34864–34873.
- Maestrini, E., Pagnamenta, A.T., Lamb, J.A., Bacchelli, E., Sykes, N.H., Sousa, I., Toma, C., Barnby, G., Butler, H., Winchester, L., et al., 2010. High-density SNP association study and copy number variation analysis of the AUTS1 and AUTS5 loci implicate the IMMP2L-DOCK4 gene region in autism susceptibility. Mol. Psychiatr. 15, 954–968.
- Maltecca, F., Aghaie, A., Schroeder, D.G., Cassina, L., Taylor, B.A., Phillips, S.J., Malaguti, M., Previtali, S., Guenet, J.L., Quattrini, A., et al., 2008. The mitochondrial protease AFG3L2 is essential for axonal development. J. Neurosci. 28, 2827–2836.
- Maltecca, F., Baseggio, E., Consolato, F., Mazza, D., Podini, P., Young Jr., S.M., Drago, I., Bahr, B.A., Puliti, A., Codazzi, F., et al., 2015. Purkinje neuron Ca2+ influx reduction rescues ataxia in SCA28 model. J. Clin. Invest. 125, 263–274.

- Maltecca, F., Magnoni, R., Cerri, F., Cox, G.A., Quattrini, A., Casari, G., 2009. Haploinsufficiency of AFG3L2, the gene responsible for spinocerebellar ataxia type 28, causes mitochondria-mediated Purkinje cell dark degeneration. J. Neurosci. 29, 9244–9254.
- Mandel, H., Saita, S., Edvardson, S., Jalas, C., Shaag, A., Goldsher, D., Vlodavsky, E., Langer, T., Elpeleg, O., 2016. Deficiency of HTRA2/Omi is associated with infantile neurodegeneration and 3-methylglutaconic aciduria. J. Med. Genet. 53, 690–696.
- Martinez, G., Duran-Aniotz, C., Cabral-Miranda, F., Vivar, J.P., Hetz, C., 2017. Endoplasmic reticulum proteostasis impairment in aging. Aging Cell 16, 615–623.
- Martinez-Reyes, I., Sanchez-Arago, M., Cuezva, J.M., 2012. AMPK and GCN2-ATF4 signal the repression of mitochondria in colon cancer cells. Biochem. J. 444, 249–259.
- Martins, L.M., Morrison, A., Klupsch, K., Fedele, V., Moisoi, N., Teismann, P., Abuin, A., Grau, E., Geppert, M., Livi, G.P., et al., 2004. Neuroprotective role of the Reaperrelated serine protease HtrA2/Omi revealed by targeted deletion in mice. Mol. Cell. Biol. 24, 9848–9862.
- Matsuda, N., Sato, S., Shiba, K., Okatsu, K., Saisho, K., Gautier, C.A., Sou, Y.S., Saiki, S., Kawajiri, S., Sato, F., et al., 2010. PINK1 stabilized by mitochondrial depolarization recruits Parkin to damaged mitochondria and activates latent Parkin for mitophagy. J. Cell Biol. 189, 211–221.
- Matsushima, Y., Goto, Y., Kaguni, L.S., 2010. Mitochondrial Lon protease regulates mitochondrial DNA copy number and transcription by selective degradation of mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 107, 18410–18415.
- Meissner, C., Lorenz, H., Hehn, B., Lemberg, M.K., 2015. Intramembrane protease PARL defines a negative regulator of PINK1- and PARK2/Parkin-dependent mitophagy. Autophagy 11, 1484–1498.
- Michel, S., Canonne, M., Arnould, T., Renard, P., 2015. Inhibition of mitochondrial genome expression triggers the activation of CHOP-10 by a cell signaling dependent on the integrated stress response but not the mitochondrial unfolded protein response. Mitochondrion 21, 58–68.
- Mishra, P., Carelli, V., Manfredi, G., Chan, D.C., 2014. Proteolytic cleavage of Opa1 stimulates mitochondrial inner membrane fusion and couples fusion to oxidative phosphorylation. Cell Metab. 19, 630–641.
- Moisoi, N., Klupsch, K., Fedele, V., East, P., Sharma, S., Renton, A., Plun-Favreau, H., Edwards, R.E., Teismann, P., Esposti, M.D., et al., 2009. Mitochondrial dysfunction triggered by loss of HtrA2 results in the activation of a brain-specific transcriptional stress response. Cell Death Differ. 16, 449–464.
- Mossmann, D., Vogtle, F.N., Taskin, A.A., Teixeira, P.F., Ring, J., Burkhart, J.M., Burger, N., Pinho, C.M., Tadic, J., Loreth, D., et al., 2014. Amyloid-beta peptide induces mitochondrial dysfunction by inhibition of preprotein maturation. Cell Metab. 20, 662–669.
- Mouchiroud, L., Houtkooper, R.H., Moullan, N., Katsyuba, E., Ryu, D., Canto, C., Mottis, A., Jo, Y.S., Viswanathan, M., Schoonjans, K., et al., 2013. The NAD(+)/sirtuin pathway modulates longevity through activation of mitochondrial UPR and FOXO signaling. Cell 154, 430–441.
- Muona, M., Berkovic, S.F., Dibbens, L.M., Oliver, K.L., Maljevic, S., Bayly, M.A., Joensuu, T., Canafoglia, L., Franceschetti, S., Michelucci, R., et al., 2015. A recurrent de novo mutation in KCNC1 causes progressive myoclonus epilepsy. Nat. Genet. 47, 39–46.
- Nabhan, J.F., Gooch, R.L., Piatnitski Chekler, E.L., Pierce, B., Bulawa, C.E., 2015. Perturbation of cellular proteostasis networks identifies pathways that modulate precursor and intermediate but not mature levels of frataxin. Sci. Rep. 5, 18251.

Stress-Responsive Regulation of Mitochondrial Proteases

- Naidoo, N., 2009. ER and aging-Protein folding and the ER stress response. Ageing Res. Rev. 8, 150–159.
- Nakamura, N., Kimura, Y., Tokuda, M., Honda, S., Hirose, S., 2006. MARCH-V is a novel mitofusin 2- and Drp1-binding protein able to change mitochondrial morphology. EMBO Rep. 7, 1019–1022.
- Nargund, A.M., Pellegrino, M.W., Fiorese, C.J., Baker, B.M., Haynes, C.M., 2012. Mitochondrial import efficiency of ATFS-1 regulates mitochondrial UPR activation. Science 337, 587–590.
- Nolden, M., Ehses, S., Koppen, M., Bernacchia, A., Rugarli, E.I., Langer, T., 2005. The m-AAA protease defective in hereditary spastic paraplegia controls ribosome assembly in mitochondria. Cell 123, 277–289.
- Novak, I., Dikic, I., 2011. Autophagy receptors in developmental clearance of mitochondria. Autophagy 7, 301–303.
- Novak, I., Kirkin, V., McEwan, D.G., Zhang, J., Wild, P., Rozenknop, A., Rogov, V., Lohr, F., Popovic, D., Occhipinti, A., et al., 2010. Nix is a selective autophagy receptor for mitochondrial clearance. EMBO Rep. 11, 45–51.
- Novoa, I., Zeng, H., Harding, H.P., Ron, D., 2001. Feedback inhibition of the unfolded protein response by GADD34-mediated dephosphorylation of eIF2alpha. J. Cell Biol. 153, 1011–1022.
- Nunnari, J., Fox, T.D., Walter, P., 1993. A mitochondrial protease with two catalytic subunits of nonoverlapping specificities. Science 262, 1997–2004.
- O'Toole, J.F., Liu, Y., Davis, E.E., Westlake, C.J., Attanasio, M., Otto, E.A., Seelow, D., Numberg, G., Becker, C., Nuutinen, M., et al., 2010. Individuals with mutations in XPNPEP3, which encodes a mitochondrial protein, develop a nephronophthisis-like nephropathy. J. Clin. Invest. 120, 791–802.
- Okatsu, K., Koyano, F., Kimura, M., Kosako, H., Saeki, Y., Tanaka, K., Matsuda, N., 2015. Phosphorylated ubiquitin chain is the genuine Parkin receptor. J. Cell Biol. 209, 111–128.
- Okatsu, K., Uno, M., Koyano, F., Go, E., Kimura, M., Oka, T., Tanaka, K., Matsuda, N., 2013. A dimeric PINK1-containing complex on depolarized mitochondria stimulates Parkin recruitment. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 36372–36384.
- Olichon, A., Baricault, L., Gas, N., Guillou, E., Valette, A., Belenguer, P., Lenaers, G., 2003. Loss of OPA1 perturbates the mitochondrial inner membrane structure and integrity, leading to cytochrome c release and apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 7743–7746.
- Ou, W.J., Ito, A., Okazaki, H., Omura, T., 1989. Purification and characterization of a processing protease from rat liver mitochondria. EMBO J. 8, 2605–2612.
- Pakos-Zebrucka, K., Koryga, I., Mnich, K., Ljujic, M., Samali, A., Gorman, A.M., 2016. The integrated stress response. EMBO Rep. 17, 1374–1395.
- Papa, L., Germain, D., 2011. Estrogen receptor mediates a distinct mitochondrial unfolded protein response. J. Cell Sci. 124, 1396–1402.
- Park, Y.Y., Cho, H., 2012. Mitofusin 1 is degraded at G2/M phase through ubiquitylation by MARCH5. Mol. Biol. Cell 23.
- Pellegrini, L., Scorrano, L., 2007. A cut short to death: Parl and Opa1 in the regulation of mitochondrial morphology and apoptosis. Cell Death Differ. 14, 1275–1284.
- Petek, E., Schwarzbraun, T., Noor, A., Patel, M., Nakabayashi, K., Choufani, S., Windpassinger, C., Stamenkovic, M., Robertson, M.M., Aschauer, H.N., et al., 2007. Molecular and genomic studies of IMMP2L and mutation screening in autism and Tourette syndrome. Mol. Genet. Genom. : MGG (Mol. Gen. Genet.) 277, 71–81.
- Petek, E., Windpassinger, C., Vincent, J.B., Cheung, J., Boright, A.P., Scherer, S.W., Kroisel, P.M., Wagner, K., 2001. Disruption of a novel gene (IMMP2L) by a breakpoint in 7q31 associated with Tourette syndrome. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 68, 848–858.

- Pierson, T.M., Adams, D., Bonn, F., Martinelli, P., Cherukuri, P.F., Teer, J.K., Hansen, N.F., Cruz, P., Mullikin For The Nisc Comparative Sequencing Program, J.C., Blakesley, R.W., et al., 2011. Whole-exome sequencing identifies homozygous AFG3L2 mutations in a spastic ataxia-neuropathy syndrome linked to mitochondrial m-AAA proteases. PLoS Genetics 7, e1002325.
- Pinti, M., Gibellini, L., De Biasi, S., Nasi, M., Roat, E., O'Connor, J.E., Cossarizza, A., 2011. Functional characterization of the promoter of the human Lon protease gene. Mitochondrion 11, 200–206.
- Potting, C., Tatsuta, T., Konig, T., Haag, M., Wai, T., Aaltonen, M.J., Langer, T., 2013. TRIAP1/PRELI complexes prevent apoptosis by mediating intramitochondrial transport of phosphatidic acid. Cell Metab. 18, 287–295.
- Puchades, C., Rampello, A.J., Shin, M., Giuliano, C.J., Wiseman, R.L., Glynn, S.E., Lander, G.C., 2017. Structure of the mitochondrial inner membrane AAA+ protease YME1 gives insight into substrate processing. Science 358.
- Qi, Y., Liu, H., Daniels, M.P., Zhang, G., Xu, H., 2016. Loss of Drosophila i-AAA protease, dYME1L, causes abnormal mitochondria and apoptotic degeneration. Cell Death Differ. 23, 291–302.
- Quiros, P.M., Espanol, Y., Acin-Perez, R., Rodriguez, F., Barcena, C., Watanabe, K., Calvo, E., Loureiro, M., Fernandez-Garcia, M.S., Fueyo, A., et al., 2014. ATPdependent Lon protease controls tumor bioenergetics by reprogramming mitochondrial activity. Cell Rep. 8, 542–556.
- Quiros, P.M., Langer, T., Lopez-Otin, C., 2015. New roles for mitochondrial proteases in health, ageing and disease. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 16, 345–359.
- Quiros, P.M., Mottis, A., Auwerx, J., 2016. Mitonuclear communication in homeostasis and stress. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 17, 213–226.
- Quiros, P.M., Prado, M.A., Zamboni, N., D'Amico, D., Williams, R.W., Finley, D., Gygi, S.P., Auwerx, J., 2017. Multi-omics analysis identifies ATF4 as a key regulator of the mitochondrial stress response in mammals. J. Cell Biol. 216, 2027–2045.
- Rainbolt, T.K., Atanassova, N., Genereux, J.C., Wiseman, R.L., 2013. Stress-regulated translational attenuation adapts mitochondrial protein import through Tim17A degradation. Cell Metab. 18, 908–919.
- Rainbolt, T.K., Lebeau, J., Puchades, C., Wiseman, R.L., 2016. Reciprocal degradation of YME1L and OMA1 adapts mitochondrial proteolytic activity during stress. Cell Rep. 14, 2041–2049.
- Rainbolt, T.K., Saunders, J.M., Wiseman, R.L., 2014. Stress-responsive regulation of mitochondria through the ER unfolded protein response. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 25, 528–537.
- Rainbolt, T.K., Saunders, J.M., Wiseman, R.L., 2015. YME1L degradation reduces mitochondrial proteolytic capacity during oxidative stress. EMBO Rep. 16, 97–106.
- Rath, E., Berger, E., Messlik, A., Nunes, T., Liu, B., Kim, S.C., Hoogenraad, N., Sans, M., Sartor, R.B., Haller, D., 2012. Induction of dsRNA-activated protein kinase links mitochondrial unfolded protein response to the pathogenesis of intestinal inflammation. Gut 61, 1269–1278.
- Richter, U., Lahtinen, T., Marttinen, P., Suomi, F., Battersby, B.J., 2015. Quality control of mitochondrial protein synthesis is required for membrane integrity and cell fitness. J. Cell Biol. 211, 373–389.
- Rugarli, E.I., Langer, T., 2012. Mitochondrial quality control: a matter of life and death for neurons. EMBO J. 31, 1336–1349.
- Saita, S., Nolte, H., Fiedler, K.U., Kashkar, H., Venne, A.S., Zahedi, R.P., Kruger, M., Langer, T., 2017. PARL mediates Smac proteolytic maturation in mitochondria to promote apoptosis. Nat. Cell Biol. 19, 318–328.

- Sandoval, H., Thiagarajan, P., Dasgupta, S.K., Schumacher, A., Prchal, J.T., Chen, M., Wang, J., 2008. Essential role for Nix in autophagic maturation of erythroid cells. Nature 454, 232–235.
- Sano, R., Reed, J.C., 2013. ER stress-induced cell death mechanisms. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1833, 3460–3470.
- Sauer, R.T., Baker, T.A., 2011. AAA+ proteases: ATP-fueled machines of protein destruction. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 80, 587-612.
- Savel'ev, A.S., Novikova, L.A., Kovaleva, I.E., Luzikov, V.N., Neupert, W., Langer, T., 1998. ATP-dependent proteolysis in mitochondria. m-AAA protease and PIM1 protease exert overlapping substrate specificities and cooperate with the mtHsp70 system. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 20596–20602.
- Schmidt, O., Pfanner, N., Meisinger, C., 2010. Mitochondrial protein import: from proteomics to functional mechanisms. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 11, 655–667.
- Schulz, A.M., Haynes, C.M., 2015. UPR(mt)-mediated cytoprotection and organismal aging. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1847, 1448–1456.
- Seiferling, D., Szczepanowska, K., Becker, C., Senft, K., Hermans, S., Maiti, P., Konig, T., Kukat, A., Trifunovic, A., 2016. Loss of CLPP alleviates mitochondrial cardiomyopathy without affecting the mammalian UPRmt. EMBO Rep. 17, 953–964.
- Sekine, S., Kanamaru, Y., Koike, M., Nishihara, A., Okada, M., Kinoshita, H., Kamiyama, M., Maruyama, J., Uchiyama, Y., Ishihara, N., et al., 2012. Rhomboid protease PARL mediates the mitochondrial membrane potential loss-induced cleavage of PGAM5. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 34635–34645.
- Seo, J.H., Rivadeneira, D.B., Caino, M.C., Chae, Y.C., Speicher, D.W., Tang, H.Y., Vaira, V., Bosari, S., Palleschi, A., Rampini, P., et al., 2016. The mitochondrial unfoldase-peptidase complex ClpXP controls bioenergetics stress and metastasis. PLoS Biol. 14, e1002507.
- Seong, Y.M., Choi, J.Y., Park, H.J., Kim, K.J., Ahn, S.G., Seong, G.H., Kim, I.K., Kang, S., Rhim, H., 2004. Autocatalytic processing of HtrA2/Omi is essential for induction of caspase-dependent cell death through antagonizing XIAP. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 37588–37596.
- Sepuri, N.B.V., Angireddy, R., Srinivasan, S., Guha, M., Spear, J., Lu, B., Anandatheerthavarada, H.K., Suzuki, C.K., Avadhani, N.G., 2017. Mitochondrial LON protease-dependent degradation of cytochrome c oxidase subunits under hypoxia and myocardial ischemia. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1858, 519–528.
- Serero, A., Giglione, C., Sardini, A., Martinez-Sanz, J., Meinnel, T., 2003. An unusual peptide deformylase features in the human mitochondrial N-terminal methionine excision pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 52953–52963.
- Serizawa, A., Dando, P.M., Barrett, A.J., 1995. Characterization of a mitochondrial metallopeptidase reveals neurolysin as a homologue of thimet oligopeptidase. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 2092–2098.
- Shi, G., Lee, J.R., Grimes, D.A., Racacho, L., Ye, D., Yang, H., Ross, O.A., Farrer, M., McQuibban, G.A., Bulman, D.E., 2011. Functional alteration of PARL contributes to mitochondrial dysregulation in Parkinson's disease. Hum. Mol. Genet. 20, 1966–1974.
- Shpilka, T., Haynes, C.M., 2018. The mitochondrial UPR: mechanisms, physiological functions and implications in ageing. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 19, 109–120.
- Shutt, T.E., McBride, H.M., 2013. Staying cool in difficult times: mitochondrial dynamics, quality control and the stress response. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1833, 417–424.
- Sinha, D., Srivastava, S., Krishna, L., D'Silva, P., 2014. Unraveling the intricate organization of mammalian mitochondrial presequence translocases: existence of multiple translocases for maintenance of mitochondrial function. Mol. Cell. Biol. 34, 1757–1775.

- Song, Z., Chen, H., Fiket, M., Alexander, C., Chan, D.C., 2007. OPA1 processing controls mitochondrial fusion and is regulated by mRNA splicing, membrane potential, and Yme1L. J. Cell Biol. 178, 749–755.
- Sovik, O., Njolstad, P.R., Jellum, E., Molven, A., 2008. Wolcott-Rallison syndrome with 3-hydroxydicarboxylic aciduria and lethal outcome. J. Inherit. Metab. Dis. 31 (Suppl. 2), S293–S297.
- Spataro, N., Calafell, F., Cervera-Carles, L., Casals, F., Pagonabarraga, J., Pascual-Sedano, B., Campolongo, A., Kulisevsky, J., Lleo, A., Navarro, A., et al., 2015. Mendelian genes for Parkinson's disease contribute to the sporadic forms of the disease. Hum. Mol. Genet. 24, 2023–2034.
- Spiller, M.P., Guo, L., Wang, Q., Tran, P., Lu, H., 2015. Mitochondrial Tim9 protects Tim10 from degradation by the protease Yme1. Biosci. Rep. 35.
- Stahl, A., Moberg, P., Ytterberg, J., Panfilov, O., Brockenhuus Von Lowenhielm, H., Nilsson, F., Glaser, E., 2002. Isolation and identification of a novel mitochondrial metalloprotease (PreP) that degrades targeting presequences in plants. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 41931–41939.
- Stiburek, L., Cesnekova, J., Kostkova, O., Fornuskova, D., Vinsova, K., Wenchich, L., Houstek, J., Zeman, J., 2012. YME1L controls the accumulation of respiratory chain subunits and is required for apoptotic resistance, cristae morphogenesis, and cell proliferation. Mol. Biol. Cell 23, 1010–1023.
- Strauss, K.A., Jinks, R.N., Puffenberger, E.G., Venkatesh, S., Singh, K., Cheng, I., Mikita, N., Thilagavathi, J., Lee, J., Sarafianos, S., et al., 2015. CODAS syndrome is associated with mutations of LONP1, encoding mitochondrial AAA+ Lon protease. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 96, 121–135.
- Strauss, K.M., Martins, L.M., Plun-Favreau, H., Marx, F.P., Kautzmann, S., Berg, D., Gasser, T., Wszolek, Z., Muller, T., Bornemann, A., et al., 2005. Loss of function mutations in the gene encoding Omi/HtrA2 in Parkinson's disease. Hum. Mol. Genet. 14, 2099–2111.
- Suzuki, Y., Imai, Y., Nakayama, H., Takahashi, K., Takio, K., Takahashi, R., 2001. A serine protease, HtrA2, is released from the mitochondria and interacts with XIAP, inducing cell death. Mol. Cell 8, 613–621.
- Tait, S.W., Green, D.R., 2013. Mitochondrial regulation of cell death. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 5.
- Tanaka, A., Cleland, M.M., Xu, S., Narendra, D.P., Suen, D.F., Karbowski, M., Youle, R.J., 2010. Proteasome and p97 mediate mitophagy and degradation of mitofusins induced by Parkin. J. Cell Biol. 191, 1367–1380.
- Teske, B.F., Fusakio, M.E., Zhou, D., Shan, J., McClintick, J.N., Kilberg, M.S., Wek, R.C., 2013. CHOP induces activating transcription factor 5 (ATF5) to trigger apoptosis in response to perturbations in protein homeostasis. Mol. Biol. Cell 24, 2477–2490.
- Thomas, R.E., Andrews, L.A., Burman, J.L., Lin, W.Y., Pallanck, L.J., 2014. PINK1-Parkin pathway activity is regulated by degradation of PINK1 in the mitochondrial matrix. PLoS Genetics 10, e1004279.
- Tian, Q., Li, T., Hou, W., Zheng, J., Schrum, L.W., Bonkovsky, H.L., 2011. Lon peptidase
 1 (LONP1)-dependent breakdown of mitochondrial 5-aminolevulinic acid synthase
 protein by heme in human liver cells. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 26424–26430.
- Tondera, D., Grandemange, S., Jourdain, A., Karbowski, M., Mattenberger, Y., Herzig, S., Da Cruz, S., Clerc, P., Raschke, I., Merkwirth, C., et al., 2009. SLP-2 is required for stress-induced mitochondrial hyperfusion. EMBO J. 28, 1589–1600.
- Tsai, C.W., Wu, Y., Pao, P.C., Phillips, C.B., Williams, C., Miller, C., Ranaghan, M., Tsai, M.F., 2017. Proteolytic control of the mitochondrial calcium uniporter complex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 114, 4388–4393.

- van der Bliek, A.M., Shen, Q., Kawajiri, S., 2013. Mechanisms of mitochondrial fission and fusion. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 5.
- Varanita, T., Soriano, M.E., Romanello, V., Zaglia, T., Quintana-Cabrera, R., Semenzato, M., Menabo, R., Costa, V., Civiletto, G., Pesce, P., et al., 2015. The OPA1-dependent mitochondrial cristae remodeling pathway controls atrophic, apoptotic, and ischemic tissue damage. Cell Metab. 21, 834–844.
- Viader, A., Sasaki, Y., Kim, S., Strickland, A., Workman, C.S., Yang, K., Gross, R.W., Milbrandt, J., 2013. Aberrant Schwann cell lipid metabolism linked to mitochondrial deficits leads to axon degeneration and neuropathy. Neuron 77, 886–898.
- Vogtle, F.N., Prinz, C., Kellermann, J., Lottspeich, F., Pfanner, N., Meisinger, C., 2011. Mitochondrial protein turnover: role of the precursor intermediate peptidase Oct1 in protein stabilization. Mol. Biol. Cell 22, 2135–2143.
- Vogtle, F.N., Wortelkamp, S., Zahedi, R.P., Becker, D., Leidhold, C., Gevaert, K., Kellermann, J., Voos, W., Sickmann, A., Pfanner, N., et al., 2009. Global analysis of the mitochondrial N-proteome identifies a processing peptidase critical for protein stability. Cell 139, 428–439.
- Wagner, I., Arlt, H., van Dyck, L., Langer, T., Neupert, W., 1994. Molecular chaperones cooperate with PIM1 protease in the degradation of misfolded proteins in mitochondria. EMBO J. 13, 5135–5145.
- Wai, T., Langer, T., 2016. Mitochondrial dynamics and metabolic regulation. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 27, 105–117.
- Wai, T., Saita, S., Nolte, H., Muller, S., Konig, T., Richter-Dennerlein, R., Sprenger, H.G., Madrenas, J., Muhlmeister, M., Brandt, U., et al., 2016. The membrane scaffold SLP2 anchors a proteolytic hub in mitochondria containing PARL and the i-AAA protease YME1L. EMBO Rep. 17, 1844–1856.
- Walker, J.E., Carroll, J., Altman, M.C., Fearnley, I.M., 2009. Chapter 6 mass spectrometric characterization of the thirteen subunits of bovine respiratory complexes that are encoded in mitochondrial DNA. Meth. Enzymol. 456, 111–131.
- Westerlund, M., Behbahani, H., Gellhaar, S., Forsell, C., Belin, A.C., Anvret, A., Zettergren, A., Nissbrandt, H., Lind, C., Sydow, O., et al., 2011. Altered enzymatic activity and allele frequency of OMI/HTRA2 in Alzheimer's disease. FASEB J. 25, 1345–1352.
- Wu, W., Tian, W., Hu, Z., Chen, G., Huang, L., Li, W., Zhang, X., Xue, P., Zhou, C., Liu, L., et al., 2014. ULK1 translocates to mitochondria and phosphorylates FUNDC1 to regulate mitophagy. EMBO Rep. 15, 566–575.
- Wust, R., Maurer, B., Hauser, K., Woitalla, D., Sharma, M., Kruger, R., 2015. Mutation analyses and association studies to assess the role of the presenilin-associated rhomboid-like gene in Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol. Aging.
- Xiao, X., Hu, Y., Quiros, P.M., Wei, Q., Lopez-Otin, C., Dong, Z., 2014. OMA1 mediates OPA1 proteolysis and mitochondrial fragmentation in experimental models of ischemic kidney injury. Am. J. Physiol. Renal. Physiol. 306, F1318–F1326.
- Yamano, K., Youle, R.J., 2013. PINK1 is degraded through the N-end rule pathway. Autophagy 9, 1758–1769.
- Yang, M., Jensen, R.E., Yaffe, M.P., Oppliger, W., Schatz, G., 1988. Import of proteins into yeast mitochondria: the purified matrix processing protease contains two subunits which are encoded by the nuclear MAS1 and MAS2 genes. EMBO J. 7, 3857–3862.
- Yoneda, T., Benedetti, C., Urano, F., Clark, S.G., Harding, H.P., Ron, D., 2004. Compartment-specific perturbation of protein handling activates genes encoding mitochondrial chaperones. J. Cell Sci. 117, 4055–4066.
- Youle, R.J., Narendra, D.P., 2011. Mechanisms of mitophagy. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 12, 9–14.

- Young, L., Leonhard, K., Tatsuta, T., Trowsdale, J., Langer, T., 2001. Role of the ABC transporter Mdl1 in peptide export from mitochondria. Science 291, 2135–2138.
- Young, S.K., Wek, R.C., 2016. Upstream open reading frames differentially regulate gene-specific translation in the integrated stress response. J. Biol. Chem. 291, 16927–16935.
- Yue, W., Chen, Z., Liu, H., Yan, C., Chen, M., Feng, D., Yan, C., Wu, H., Du, L., Wang, Y., et al., 2014. A small natural molecule promotes mitochondrial fusion through inhibition of the deubiquitinase USP30. Cell Res. 24, 482–496.
- Zhang, K., Li, H., Song, Z., 2014. Membrane depolarization activates the mitochondrial protease OMA1 by stimulating self-cleavage. EMBO Rep. 15, 576–585.
- Zhao, Q., Wang, J., Levichkin, I.V., Stasinopoulos, S., Ryan, M.T., Hoogenraad, N.J., 2002. A mitochondrial specific stress response in mammalian cells. EMBO J. 21, 4411–4419.
- Zhou, D., Palam, L.R., Jiang, L., Narasimhan, J., Staschke, K.A., Wek, R.C., 2008. Phosphorylation of eIF2 directs ATF5 translational control in response to diverse stress conditions. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 7064–7073.
- Ziviani, E., Tao, R.N., Whitworth, A.J., 2010. Drosophila parkin requires PINK1 for mitochondrial translocation and ubiquitinates mitofusin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 107, 5018–5023.